

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

EVENING COMMUNITY MEETING

Thursday, May 30, 2019 3:00 p.m.

Detroit Public Safety Headquarters  
1301 Third Street  
Detroit, Michigan 48226

1 COMMISSIONERS:

2 WILLIE BELL, Chairperson (Dist. 4)

3 WILLIAM M. DAVIS (Dist. 7)

4 DARRYL D. BROWN, Vice-Chair, Commissioner (Dist. 1)

5 SHIRLEY A. BURCH, Commissioner (Dist. 3)

6 ANNIE HOLT, At-Large

7

8

9 GREGORY HICKS, Secretary to the Board

10 ROBERT BROWN, Executive Manager

11

12

13 REPRESENTING OFFICE OF THE CHIEF OF POLICE:

14 ASSISTANT CHIEF JAMES E. WHITE

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 May 30, 2019

3 At or about 3:00 p.m.

4

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Good afternoon.

6 ATTENDEES: Good afternoon.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: I am Police Commissioner

8 Willie Bell. I represent District 4. I serve as Chair of

9 the Board, and I will be conducting our meeting today. On

10 behalf of the Board, for those in attendance, thank you for

11 joining us. For people viewing this meeting on your

12 government cable channel, thank you for viewing our

13 meeting.

14 Commissioner Lisa Carter, Eva Garza Dewaelsche,

15 and Yvette Griffie are attending a Mackinac Policy

16 Conference representing their respective organizations and

17 have asked to be excused from today's meeting.

18 Commissioner Jim Holley and Willie Burton have also asked

19 to be excused.

20 Today we invite Chaplain Derrick Hayes to provide

21 our invocation, please. Chaplain Hayes.

22 (At 3:02 p.m., invocation given)

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, Chaplain.

24 Let's do introductions starting to my far

25 right, please.

1 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Police Commissioner William  
2 Davis, District 7.

3 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Good afternoon. Elizabeth  
4 Brooks, At-Large.

5 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Good afternoon, Darryl  
6 Brown, District 1. Vice Chair.

7 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Good afternoon. Shirley  
8 Burch, District 3.

9 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Good afternoon. Annie Holt,  
10 At-Large.

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Mr. Hicks, do we have a  
12 quorum?

13 MR. HICKS: Commissioner, you have a quorum.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Thank you,  
15 commissioners, for coming out this afternoon since we have  
16 a busy schedule as always. And I appreciate those in  
17 attendance and those who could not make it because of  
18 business reasons and various other reasons.

19 The Chair will entertain a motion to approve the  
20 agenda for May 30, 2019.

21 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: So moved.

22 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Support.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and  
24 supported. Discussion? Those in favor, aye.

25 THE BOARD: Aye.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion  
2 carried.

3 The next item will be approval of the minutes  
4 from May 23, 2019.

5 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: So moved.

6 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Support.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Properly moved and supported.  
8 Discussion? Those in favor aye.

9 THE BOARD: Aye.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Opposed? Motion carried.

11 Mr. Hicks, would you introduce the Board staff,  
12 please.

13 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Just prior to  
14 makings those introductions, customarily I do include in  
15 the record that Sergeant Quinn is taping this session.  
16 Media Services is providing the audiovisual work today.  
17 And, of course, Donna Williams is the court reporter. And  
18 immediately sitting next to me, although he's out of his  
19 chair, is Robert Brown.

20 And if we can go to the first row. And members  
21 of the Board staff, could you please stand and introduce  
22 yourselves. Jermaine Wyrick, board attorney. Teresa  
23 Blossom, Community Relations. Melanie White, executive  
24 manager of policy. Board accountant, Faye Johnson. Dr.  
25 Anderson, HR.

1 MR. HICKS: Commissioner, just prior to going to  
2 Dr. McCalister, I want to indicate and maybe have  
3 commissioner -- I mean, I'm sorry -- have Ms. Blossom  
4 introduce a new intern. This intern is volunteering to  
5 work in the office.

6 MS. BLOSSOM: This is Mr. Khalid Mohamed. He's  
7 going into his senior year at Xavier University. And  
8 we're very happy that he is going to be in addition to  
9 sharing his skill set in communications with a specialty  
10 in graphic design, learning a little bit more about the  
11 Board of Police Commissioners, journalism and, of course,  
12 the projects that we are working on this summer.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Welcome aboard. Thank you.  
14 Thank you.

15 (Applause)

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Do we have two Xaviers? I  
17 know it's probably one for him, but which one?

18 MR. MOHAMED: The one in Cincinnati.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: The one in Cincinnati. Okay.  
20 That's close to home. Thank you for coming on board. I'm  
21 looking forward to the interaction with you. Feel free to  
22 interact with the commissioners, with the staff. And it  
23 should be a great experience for you as a young man and  
24 general student. It's a whole lot to take in, a whole lot  
25 to share; so I wish you the best.

1 MR. MOHAMED: Thank you.

2 DR. McALLISTER: Good afternoon, Board. I'm Dr.  
3 Polly McAllister. And attending today's meeting with me is  
4 Supervising Investigator Akbar, Supervising Investigator  
5 Cromwell, Senior Investigator Madrigal, Senior Investigator  
6 Moses, Investigator Nichols, Investigator Colture, and  
7 Investigator Callaway.

8 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Thank you for the  
9 board staff and OCI. We're going to move on to Assistant  
10 Chief James White, a fill-in for Chief Craig.

11 AC WHITE: Good afternoon esteemed board.

12 THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

13 AC WHITE: The Chief Craig sends his regrets.  
14 He's away at Major City Chiefs. Be rest assured we're in  
15 constant contact, so it's like he is here. I will let the  
16 staff introduce themselves.

17 (At 3:07 p.m., self-introduction of Chief of  
18 Police staff)

19 AC WHITE: Thank you.

20 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Do we have any  
21 elected officials or representatives of elected officials  
22 or civic leaders or representatives? I see a couple people  
23 representing organizations. Just please introduce yourself  
24 city-wide and others. Yes, sir.

25 MR. STOKES: Alvin Stokes. President of the

1 City-Wide Citizen's Police Community Relations.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

3 MS. WILSON: Carla Wilson, district manager for  
4 District 5 for Department Neighborhood and the Mayor's  
5 Office.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

7 MR. BLUNT: Minister Eric Blunt from Sacred Heart  
8 Catholic Church in Detroit.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Good to see a lifelong  
10 Detroiter in the house. Thank you for all of you coming  
11 out this afternoon. I know, once again, it's a rainy  
12 afternoon; but we're still standing, and that's a blessing  
13 in all of that.

14 Did I see a Second Precinct police relations  
15 young lady sitting there in front of me?

16 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes, you do. And she's not  
17 shy.

18 MS. BUTLER: Lydia Butler, Second Precinct.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, Ms. Butler.

20 I guess we covered the introduction. And the  
21 next item would be moving on to chairman's report.

22 On behalf of the Board, I want to express our  
23 concern and support for fallen and injured officers. Our  
24 concern for officer safety and citizen protection is  
25 ranked as two of the most important parts of the Board.



1 The Board receives a weekly report from the department  
2 listing injured officers. I would ask the assistant  
3 chief during his remarks to provide us with any  
4 additional information later to injured and fallen  
5 officers.

6 The Board of Police Commissioners meet every  
7 week except for the Thanksgiving and Christmas holiday  
8 period. We meet at police headquarters three weeks in a  
9 month at Thursday at 3:00 p.m. We also meet in the  
10 community every second Thursday of the month at 6:30 p.m.

11 Under the Detroit City Charter, Article 7,  
12 Chapter -- Article 7, Chapter 8, the Board of Police  
13 Commissioners is empowered to provide civilian oversight  
14 and supervisory control of the police department. Our  
15 citizens are justified in asking how does civilian  
16 oversight law enforcement help you as a citizen within  
17 our community? Our answer is, we protect the civil  
18 rights of citizens.

19 Oversight organizations like the BOPC are at the  
20 forefront of investigating, reviewing, and auditing  
21 individual cases of citizen complaints and pattern of  
22 operation by police agency to eliminate misconduct,  
23 discriminatory police practice, unnecessary use of force by  
24 police. Our work is based on the public in supporting  
25 effective policing. Mutual trust and respect between the

1 police and the community is critical towards increasing the  
2 quality of life for residents and visitors to Detroit.

3 The Board of Police Commissioners exist to  
4 provide civilian oversight of the work of the DPD. As a  
5 board we receive and investigate noncriminal citizen  
6 complaints, monitor the operations of the department, and  
7 work with the mayor and the chief of police to make or  
8 modify police policy.

9 I want to point to several important items for  
10 your consideration and information. Again, I remind the  
11 Board, we continue to work with NACO (National Association  
12 for Civilian Oversight) law enforcement to host a national  
13 conference on September 22nd through the 26th, 2019 in  
14 Detroit. During the same time, Detroit is celebrating our  
15 45th year as a civilian oversight organization on July 22,  
16 2019. We are inviting law enforcement and other civic  
17 minded individuals in order to join us at the conference.  
18 The planning process is well underway, and again we invite  
19 your participation. We want to again thank Commissioner  
20 Elizabeth Brooks for her comprehensive report at our last  
21 meeting on NACO and the Board's 45th anniversary dinner.

22 Typically I provide some historic facts about the  
23 importance of a date in history. These facts give context  
24 to our work and remind us of the contribution made by  
25 others. I am inspired by the work of many others who have

1 come before me. One example of the spirit of voluntarism  
2 is shown in the work of Detroit City Council President Pro  
3 Tem Mary Sheffield's grandfather, the late Horace  
4 Sheffield.

5 Horace Sheffield was an African American labor  
6 leader who helped many black youth enter the automobile  
7 industry and trade union by setting up a tutorial program,  
8 the Trade Union Leadership Council (TULC). Are we familiar  
9 with TULC?

10 ATTENDEES: Yes.

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. On this day in  
12 history, Horace Sheffield was named to the Executive  
13 Committee of the Negro American Labor Council and would  
14 later be named as the international vice president of the  
15 UAW, (United Automobile Workers). Horace Sheffield is in  
16 part responsible for a long legacy of black leadership in  
17 Detroit.

18 I might want to add that Horace Sheffield was one  
19 of my main mentors. And how I ended up on the NAACP Board  
20 was through his through his efforts through DABO and NAACP,  
21 so I'm indebted to him. That's Horace Sheffield, Sr. now.  
22 We're not talking about the third, I think.

23 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: We're talking junior.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, we're talking about  
25 senior. He's legendary. But I guess junior or third in

1 his own right is a man to be reckoned with too.

2           Additionally I want to note that on this day in  
3 history, according to Ken Coleman, a noted journalist  
4 research on the history of black Detroit; in 1987 the  
5 National Museum of Tuskegee Airmen was opened at Historic  
6 Fort Wayne on Jefferson Avenue in Detroit. The Tuskegee  
7 Airmen are known for their bravery and their focus on  
8 defeating enemy forces in the many air battles during  
9 World War II.

10           The Tuskegee Airmen were the first black military  
11 aviators in the U.S. Army Air Corps (AAC) and pursuers of  
12 the U.S. Air Force. Trained in the Tuskegee Army Airfield  
13 in Atlanta, they flew more than 15,000 individual --  
14 Unintelligible -- in Europe and North Africa during World  
15 War II. Some of the most famous members of the Tuskegee  
16 Airmen include Benjamin O. Davis, Jr., Danielle "Chappie"  
17 James, and the late Mayor of Detroit by the name of what?

18           ATTENDEES: Coleman A. Young.

19           COMMISSIONER BELL: Coleman A. Young, Sr. Again,  
20 these historic events set the context of where I work.

21           Today we have two action items on the agenda.  
22 The first is a resolution honoring the life and service to  
23 the community of Bishop Sidney C. Griffin. Commissioner  
24 Shirley Burch requested this resolution. We'll read it  
25 into the record at an appropriate time.

1           The second action is a request from the Chief of  
2 Police James Craig to promote Captain Kara Sloan to the  
3 rank of commander. A copy of the request for promotion was  
4 included in your Tuesday package. I would ask that and the  
5 end of the Chair's report that one of the commissioners in  
6 attendance move this promotion.

7           We have three presentations. The first review of  
8 the third quarter budget of the DPD (Detroit Police  
9 Department). I understand that DPD has a you agency chief  
10 financial officer, CFO, who is making this presentation.  
11 The name of this agency is Nevers. Is he here?

12           MR. NAZARKO: Yes.

13           COMMISSIONER BELL: Please, just introduce  
14 yourself properly. I want --

15           MR. NAZARKO: Good afternoon, honorable  
16 commissioners.

17           THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

18           MR. NAZARKO: Thank you. My name is Nevers  
19 Nazarko.

20           COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

21           MR. NAZARKO: I'm new agency CFO. Just started  
22 three weeks ago, and I will be making the presentation for  
23 the third quarter budget.

24           COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you for that proper  
25 introduction.

1 MR. NAZARKO: Thank you.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. The second  
3 presentation will be posed on Directive 307.06, Use of  
4 Traffic Light Mount Cameras and Facial Recognition  
5 Technology.

6 You may recall that Mayor Mike Duggan announced  
7 as part of his State of the City Address, the City will  
8 begin to use this advanced surveillance technology. The  
9 chief of police has submitted a proposed directive for our  
10 review to integrate this technology into the works of the  
11 department. The presentation today is not an opportunity  
12 to vote on the directive, instead it is a request that I  
13 made to have the department present to the Board a  
14 directive in advance of our next community meeting.

15 At the next community meeting scheduled for June  
16 13, we want to hear from the community about their concerns  
17 related to the department's use of advanced surveillance  
18 technology. This will in fact be the BOPC public hearing  
19 on advanced surveillance technology. Again, the hearing is  
20 scheduled for June 13, 2019 at St. John Lutheran Church,  
21 located at 4950 Oakland Boulevard, Northwest Detroit in the  
22 Second Precinct.

23 The third presentation will be the monthly  
24 report from Office of the Chief Investigator who will  
25 summarize the citizen's complaint filed with OCI. Dr.

1 Polly McAllister will make the OCI report.

2 On the chief's report, I'm requesting update on  
3 our crime stats and any critical issues facing the police  
4 department.

5 At the end of the meeting, we will have public  
6 comments from the audience. Please make sure you print  
7 your name on a speaker's card. Cards are located in the  
8 back on the table or can be obtained by seeing Mr. Robert  
9 Brown to my far right. We'll need your card before the  
10 beginning of the public comments.

11 We hold each speaker to the allotted two minutes.  
12 I ask everyone turn off your cell phone. I have mine here.  
13 I missed a notification last week, but I think I have it  
14 under control. This does not include DPD. They're on  
15 emergency standby. So let's try to put it on ringer [sic].  
16 Make sure those alarms don't go out. That's what caught  
17 me.

18 Now we're going to ask Commissioner Shirley  
19 Burch to -- Unintelligible -- Bishop Sidney C. Griffin;  
20 we worked together as founding members of DABO under the  
21 late Horace Sheffield.

22 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Resolution Honoring Bishop  
23 Sidney C. Griffin, Sr.

24 WHEREAS Dr. Sidney C. Griffin Sr. has served since 1986  
25 as Pastor of the Pilgrim Baptist Church, located

1 in Detroit Michigan. In if ministry over 33  
2 years, he is a powerful man of God and has spread  
3 the gospel throughout the country. In 1977, he  
4 married the lady that God created just for him,  
5 Reverend Dr. Yvette Griffin, and  
6 WHEREAS Bishop Griffin, Sr. Served on several religious,  
7 civic and community organizations, including  
8 several that have been important partners to the  
9 Board of Police Commissioners in the area of  
10 public safety and justice. He was a member of  
11 the Council of Baptist Pastors of Detroit and  
12 Vicinity, Inc.; past Chairman of the Pastoral  
13 Care Committee, Vice President of the Common Word  
14 Alliance, Clergy United, NAACP, Black United  
15 Fund, Youth Volunteer Community Service,  
16 Fundamental Fairness, United Way, and Chairman of  
17 the Board of Clear Purpose Foundation; and  
18 WHEREAS Bishop Griffin, Sr. was elected and re-elected  
19 and served faithfully for six years as Moderator  
20 of the Metropolitan Missioner Baptist District  
21 Association and Auxiliaries from 2005 to 2011;  
22 and  
23 WHEREAS Bishop Griffin, Sr. was educated in the Detroit  
24 Public School System graduating from Northern  
25 High School. He graduated from the University of



1 Detroit (Magna Cum Laude), the Detroit Urban  
2 Institute with a Doctorate of Divinity Degree,  
3 and in 1988 he received and Honorary Doctorate of  
4 Humanities. Also, in 1988 he organized a  
5 community-based program of Pilgrim, called  
6 Survival Inc. Under his pastorate, many people  
7 have come to know and love Jesus Christ as their  
8 savior and confidante. He touched many lives  
9 during his life; and

10 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT

11 RESOLVED That the Detroit Board of Police Commissioners  
12 speaking for the citizens of the city of Detroit  
13 and the Detroit Police Department acknowledges  
14 the dedication and service of Bishop Dr. Sidney  
15 C. Griffin, Sr. His love for people, vibrant  
16 spirit, and courageous voice to ministry has been  
17 an inspiration of the all. He will be greatly  
18 missed by the greater Detroit community, and we  
19 extend condolences to his family and loved ones.

20 THE DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

21 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Mr. Chair, I move for  
22 adoption.

23 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Support.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved.

25 Discussion? Those in favor aye.

1 THE BOARD: Aye.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Motion carried. Thank you,  
3 Commissioner Burch.

4 The next item would be recommendation for  
5 appointment to the rank of commander for Captain Sloan. Is  
6 Captain Sloan here? I thought so. Okay. Just stand by.  
7 Just stand by. The Chair will entertain a motion.

8 COMMISSIONER HOLT: I motion that we support the  
9 recommendation for the appointment to the rank of Commander  
10 for Captain Kari Sloan.

11 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Support.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and  
13 supported. Discussion? Those in favor aye.

14 THE BOARD: Aye.

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion  
16 carried. Now Commander.

17 (Applause)

18 COMMANDER SLOAN: Thank you, Board. Thank you  
19 very much. I really appreciate the opportunity, and I'm  
20 very proud to represent the police department. I've been  
21 fortunate to have a really unique experience. And I'm  
22 excited to move on to the next challenge, which I'm told is  
23 going to be on patrol; which I'm very excited to get back  
24 to. I spent a lot of years on patrol, and I'm looking  
25 forward to it.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: How many years?

2 COMMANDER SLOAN: I spent fourteen years on  
3 patrol. I have twenty-one on coming up in September. So I  
4 really want to also thank the team that I had to support me  
5 at Crime Intel. They were really intricate and integral in  
6 the process that we made and the progress we made there  
7 with Project Green Light and a lot of our other projects.  
8 And thank you to AC White and to the chief for always being  
9 very supportive of me.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Any commissioners want to  
11 make any comments.

12 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Congratulations.

13 (Applause)

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: I too want to echo that.  
15 Thank you. We wish you the best.

16 Next item would be Assistant Chief White on  
17 behalf of Chief Craig.

18 AC WHITE: Good afternoon once again.

19 THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

20 AC WHITE: I will start with the crime report.  
21 And this is, of course, the year-to-date in the past  
22 twenty-eight days.

23 Homicide: We're continuing in the right  
24 direction. However, as the Board is aware, we've had a  
25 number of incident recently, high profile incidents, that

1 have, in fact, impacted those numbers, and more  
2 importantly, victimized a number of people that we're  
3 working towards resolving. The hard work of the men and  
4 women of Homicide and other units brought a number of those  
5 people to justice. However our numbers now are down 19% in  
6 homicide. Up 12% in CSC. Robbery down 13%. Aggravated  
7 assault down 6%. Burglary down 5%. Larceny down 12%.  
8 Motor vehicle theft down 8%. And total offenses -- total  
9 is 8%.

10 Moving on to the injured officer report that  
11 the Board has asked for. Officer Waldis Johnson is still  
12 in a long-term care facility and continues to need our  
13 prayers. Officer Kisselburg is moving towards his full  
14 duty disability. Thurston is receiving occupational home  
15 therapy. Most recently we've had two other officers  
16 injured. Actually three other officers injured: Officer  
17 Mario Rodriguez; he's at home recovering from a gunshot  
18 wound the past couple weeks. Christopher Bush was pinned  
19 between a vehicle, and he's also recovering at home, as  
20 well as Officer Morales that was pinned during that same  
21 incident. Pinned between a vehicle as the perpetrator  
22 attempted to escape. And he's recovering at home as  
23 well.

24 Upcoming significant events: We have the  
25 ribbon cutting for the DPD Training Center scheduled for

1 June 7th at 11:00 a.m. As the Board is aware, we've been  
2 doing a lot of work on an old school, now training  
3 center. And a lot of donations, a lot of work through  
4 the Police Foundation, Planet Fitness. And we're going  
5 to be very happy to present that facility to the  
6 department as well as the Board. Open invitation to any  
7 member of the board that wishes to attend.

8 And then finally on June 7th Run Across America.  
9 **A reserve officer, Reserve Deputy Matt Garbarino (Phonetic)**  
10 **will run across the state from Detroit to St. Joseph in**  
11 **honor of fallen officers. And the run will launch here at**  
12 **DPSH at 9:00 a.m. on June 7th.**

13 **Any questions?**

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Are you running?

15 AC WHITE: No. Not that I know.

16 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Mr. Chair, I have just a  
17 comment.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

19 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Chief White, could you  
20 update the people regarding really the Detroit Police  
21 Department and Highland Park. It was an accident where the  
22 motorist did injure a police officer. But what I want to  
23 say is how you all worked together, the Highland Park,  
24 Chief Logan, and also our Detroit police officer, which is  
25 Chief Craig. Could you share with the people what happened

1 in that incident.

2 AC WHITE: I do not have all that information  
3 with me.

4 DC, would you happen to have the fact sheet on  
5 that?

6 UNKNOWN SPEAKER: That case does not sound  
7 familiar.

8 AC WHITE: I'm familiar with the incident, but I  
9 don't want to report.

10 DC FITZGERALD: Deputy Chief Charles Fitzgerald.  
11 I know the incident was a drag racing incident that  
12 happened in Highland Park.

13 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Correct.

14 DC FITZGERALD: As far as the closure part, I  
15 don't have additional information.

16 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Well I heard from Highland  
17 Park that the officer is okay.

18 DC FITZGERALD: Yes.

19 COMMISSIONER BURCH: But I'm just the type to  
20 want to commend both departments. We worked together.

21 AC WHITE: Yes, ma'am. And through the Chair, we  
22 continue to work with all our law enforcement partners.  
23 This specific incident, I don't have all the facts. I  
24 don't want to misreport information to the Board. I just  
25 know that the suspect was taken into custody without

1 incident. The officer is recovering. But I don't have  
2 much more information than that.

3 COMMISSIONER BURCH: That's okay. Thank you.

4 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Mr. Chair.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

6 COMMISSIONER HOLT: In my neighborhood, which is  
7 Precinct Eight, I think one of my neighbors was assaulted  
8 by three criminals who invaded his backyard, and then  
9 forced him into his home, and consequently robbed him. I  
10 believe that incident turned out whereby the criminals were  
11 captured? Precinct Eight? The incident happened on Sunday  
12 at 3:45 in the evenings. Yes? No? Okay.

13 AC WHITE: Through the Chair, I can get the  
14 information and report back to you.

15 COMMISSIONER HOLT: And the reason I brought it  
16 up, because I was looking on my phone. Because the  
17 president of our neighborhood association, he sends out  
18 those kinds of correspondence. And he always talks to us  
19 as if we're children and how we should be cautious and  
20 mindful of our space. But obviously the insult of that all  
21 was that this gentleman, again, was in his backyard cutting  
22 his grass. So his entire space was invaded by folks who  
23 came there to harm him. And I thought the -- I thought the  
24 president indicated that the criminals who committed the  
25 crime had been captured. But I couldn't find my email, so

1 I can't swear to the outcome of that as well.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. We could probably  
3 look it up. I want to pose the question -- well not  
4 question, concern to Assistant Chief White. I think there  
5 was another highlight in terms of apprehension. The young  
6 man what was carjacked who happened to be a veteran. I  
7 think that was the case where the Green Light gave a great  
8 photo. Could you share some information on that, please?

9 AC WHITE: Yes, sir. Through the Chair, this was  
10 an incident that occurred on May 27th. An army veteran was  
11 carjacked. He was also disabled, and there was a lot of  
12 equipment in that vehicle that aided him with his  
13 disability. At approximately -- the incident happened  
14 approximately 1:45 a.m. in the Third Precinct on Woodward.  
15 Using cameras and using photos from a project Green Light  
16 business, we released though photos and video to the media.  
17 The perpetrator knowing that this video was out there and  
18 his pictures were out there certainly became uncomfortable,  
19 and as of last night surrendered to officers working  
20 Greektown as the perpetrator.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

22 AC WHITE: It was the pressure from seeing  
23 himself on television and really leveraging technology to  
24 help bring him in.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes. And it was a great



1 photo shot. Like you say, high tech. He was, wow, okay, I  
2 think I need to turn myself in. So that was great. That's  
3 something that we need to highlight in terms of using  
4 cameras.

5 (Applause)

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: Any other questions?

7 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I have a concern.

8 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir. Yes, sir.

9 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I've been getting complaints  
10 about Plymouth between Greenfield and Wyoming and  
11 Schoolcraft between Schaefer and Wyoming about an  
12 overabundance of street walkers out there now.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: So you're reporting it out so  
14 they can respond?

15 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, thank you.

17 We're going to move on to the budget report  
18 from DPD. If you get the opportunity, introduce yourself  
19 again.

20 MS. NAZARKO: Yes. Well Honorable Board, good  
21 afternoon again. I appreciate the opportunity to be here  
22 before you today. My first time doing this budget report  
23 presentation. As I said, again, my name is Nevers Nazarko.  
24 I'm the new ACFO to the Detroit Police Department.

25 Today I'll present the budget report for the

1 third quarter ending March 31, 2019. And in this report  
2 the outline, we'll talk about the overall third quarter  
3 budget variance, the third quarter annual amended budget  
4 variance, analyzed revenue and expansion protection,  
5 analyze expenditure detail and projections with some notes,  
6 annualize revenue detail and projections with some notes,  
7 some forfeiture activity, capital plans, and then we'll  
8 have room for any questions.

9 The total revenues for the amended budget on  
10 the revenue side for the third quarter was \$43.6 million.  
11 The actual revenues booked were \$17.1 million, for a  
12 variance of 26.5 approximately. However, do not let that  
13 number be misleading, because the bulk of the revenues  
14 are booked in fourth quarter, as well most of them come  
15 in fourth quarter. And the item that counsel, mind you,  
16 is the utility tax. It usually comes in the fourth  
17 quarter. That's why that number is skewed. Normally it  
18 should be just like the expenditures, close to 70%-\$75%.

19 As you see on the expenditure side, the amended  
20 budget for the third quarter was \$238.4 million. The  
21 actual amounts were \$217.6 million for a positive variance  
22 of \$20.7 million. However, most of that is due to timing  
23 differences.

24 The total revenues as we saw in the previous  
25 slide for the fourth -- for the third quarter came in at

1 \$17.1 million. However, the annual amended budget stands  
2 at \$58.5 million. So the percentage that we booked up to  
3 March 31st was 29.2% of the total revenues.

4 Total expenditures \$217.6 million. The annual  
5 amended budget is standing at \$314.9, almost \$315  
6 million. And the actual expenditures represent 69.1% of  
7 the budget amount, which is a good number. Because as I  
8 said in the beginning, the numbers should be at this  
9 point less than 75%.

10 This is a more detailed outline of the total  
11 revenues (Indicating).

12 UNKNOWN SPEAKER: Since the camera's out you're  
13 going to have to look to your right.

14 MS. NAZARKO: The salary of wage of the amended  
15 budget for 2019 is \$215.1 million. And the projection will  
16 come to a little bit higher than that, \$214 million. And  
17 that variance, as we will see the notes, you see at the  
18 bottom of the page, is due mainly to the overtime  
19 expenditures being up to March 31st, as well as some  
20 contractual raises that -- or compensations that went into  
21 effect in November 2018 for the Detroit Police Officers  
22 Association. They became eligible for double time on  
23 November 12, 2018.

24 Benefits also -- because they tag on the wages.  
25 Just as the wages go up benefits -- I expect it to -- the

1 projection is going to be hire. Not by much. And  
2 professional contractual services are going to decrease  
3 by \$180,000. The budget projection versus the amended  
4 budget as it stands.

5 Operating supplies and operating services.  
6 Operating services are flat. However, operating services  
7 are going to be less. It will be budget amount. And most  
8 of that is due to timing of when they provide those  
9 services via operating services.

10 Capital equipment and the capital out place are  
11 expected to be flat. And other expenses are going to be  
12 less than the budget amount in tune of \$664,000.

13 On the revenue side, the municipal income tax  
14 is budgeted at \$23.7 million, and we expect that number  
15 to be flat. The projected amount will be \$23.6 million.  
16 The utility users tax, we expect that -- we had budgeted  
17 \$27.5 million. However, we expect to receive  
18 \$2.3 million more with the budget amount.

19 The sales and the charges for services, we  
20 expect that to be flat. Same thing with the licenses  
21 permits and inspections, as well as the miscellaneous  
22 revenues. So the total revenues projected or budgeted at  
23 \$58.5 million is expected to bring in close to \$62  
24 million. And that is due mainly to an increase -- we  
25 expect that increase in utility users tax from \$27.5, as

1 we said, to \$29.8 million.

2 On the forfeiture activity, the department has  
3 received \$65,000 from the Department of Justice Equitable  
4 Sharing Program between July 1, 2018 through March 31,  
5 2019. However, there is a requisition that has been  
6 created for the remaining payment of \$4.4 million for the  
7 department's electric control weapons to be completed  
8 this fiscal year.

9 On the local forfeiture, the department has  
10 received \$1.3 million from Wayne County at the forfeiture  
11 unit. However, we have spent -- the expenditures for up to  
12 third quarter are \$1.8 million. And they consist of  
13 salaries and fringe benefits, facilities and utilities,  
14 uniforms and equipment, training and fleet maintenance.  
15 All of these are permitted use under the current law.

16 Department has few capital initiatives in the  
17 following areas: The Technology Department is working to  
18 invest resources in technology and equipment needed for  
19 security upgrades. And a requisition for camera  
20 expansion utilizing UTGO funds has been created. On the  
21 facilities side DBH started a sixth floor remodeling  
22 including security doors and new offices for the Office  
23 of Grants, Police Payroll, and Fiscal Operations.

24 On the fleet side, the Vehicle Steering Committee  
25 has completed a year one and two of vehicle purchases.

1 Vehicle Purchase Plan have created a requisition to utilize  
2 UTGO funds for the ESP vehicle purchases, which is a  
3 sizeable amount. In addition, we are working to utilize  
4 the UTGO funding for both bulletproof vests and computer  
5 equipment, as well as upgrades to the two yard --  
6 total yard facility.

7 And with that, I'd like to take any questions.

8 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners?

9 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir?

11 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Can you provide the  
12 commission with your amended budget amounts in the future?

13 MR. NAZARKO: Amended budget amounts as far as  
14 the --

15 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Whenever there's any changes  
16 made to the budget, can you provide us with it.

17 MR. NAZARKO: I'll look into that. But the -- if  
18 you look at this slide, the -- this is the amended budget.  
19 For example, on the first column there for salaries, wages  
20 and benefits and all the way down, that's the amended  
21 budget as it's true on March 31st for those sides. But if  
22 you're looking for something else, I'll be happy to include  
23 it.

24 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Whenever any amendments are  
25 made, we want to see it.

1 MR. NAZARKO: Okay.

2 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Also what equipment did you  
3 purchase this year?

4 MR. NAZARKO: The details of the equipment? I  
5 believe we have purchased vehicles. I don't have the  
6 details.

7 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Perhaps you can get some  
8 more information as it relates to what equipment and what  
9 was purchased when. Not necessarily when, but just what  
10 equipment was purchased.

11 MR. NAZARKO: Absolutely. I'll provide a list of  
12 the major equipment that we purchased this year.

13 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: And how much in grant funds  
14 have you received in fiscal year 2018-2019 to date? And  
15 please provide a schedule to Ms. Johnson, our fiscal  
16 person. We have requested on previous occasions that you  
17 provide the grant award letters to the Board upon going to  
18 City Council for approval. I know you're new, but perhaps  
19 that's something you can help to expedite in the future.  
20 Because, you know, we need to have more information in a  
21 more timely manner.

22 MR. NAZARKO: I'll work on that, Commissioner.

23 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Through the Chair.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes?

25 COMMISSIONER HOLT: On your capital request,

1 under technology you indicated that funds are being  
2 requested for technology for equipment needed for security  
3 upgrades. Could you also explain what type of security  
4 upgrades under technology.

5 MR. NAZARKO: DC White.

6 AC WHITE: Yes. Through the Chair, I can take  
7 that one. Security and upgrades is part of a budgeted  
8 strategy to provide access control to the building  
9 throughout the department. Also security and upgrades has  
10 to do with the entry points of all precincts, as well as  
11 gate systems for the precincts. And there's a schedule  
12 with that as well that we put out.

13 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you.

14 AC WHITE: Thank you.

15 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Mr. Chair.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am?

17 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes, sir. Thank you for  
18 your report. Could you tell me in your book here where I  
19 would find as far as the renovations of each precinct? How  
20 much are you spending and where would that be located on  
21 your form here if that's included? I'm concerned more with  
22 the precinct part of renovating of it, because a lot of  
23 them look kind of shabby. And I just wanted to know how  
24 much -- which precincts are getting the amount, and what is  
25 it going to cover as far as the renovation?



1           MR. NAZARKO: While I do not have the details on  
2   that, I do know that we have been investing and planning a  
3   large amount of money to renovate the precincts. And on  
4   the slide there, I believe that up to the third quarter,  
5   whatever we spent up to March 31st should be on the capital  
6   outlay. So the total amount that we spent for the whole  
7   police department is close to \$1 million up to the first  
8   three quarters. However, I do not have that broken down by  
9   precinct.

10           COMMISSIONER BURCH: So next time if that's  
11   permissive -- I don't know if it is or not, that's why I'm  
12   asking the question -- could we know like in each precinct  
13   what's going to be done to that particular precinct as far  
14   as improvements? Maybe Chief White can help me with Number  
15   Eleven. That's where I come from.

16           AC WHITE: Yes, ma'am. Through the Chair, Number  
17   Eleven actually came up at a CompStat today and was very  
18   happy with the work that was done at the Eleventh Precinct.  
19   The interior's been completed. The locker room has been  
20   completed. The parking lot has been completed. The roof.  
21   Three of the five air-conditioning units have been put on.  
22   And we're working towards completion of that building.

23           Just so the Board is aware, the budgetary dollars  
24   regarding the repairs is one aspect of the work that we do.  
25   Facilities, which comes up through my chain, manages those

1 dollars once we get them. And we have a very comprehensive  
2 schedule on how we've done the work in the precincts.

3 As the Board is also aware, we've moved through  
4 the city strategically repairing the buildings. We're at  
5 six now doing a very comprehensive rebuild of the facility  
6 there. We completed eight. We've got to go back and  
7 finish the library. Merrill Plaisance has some work that  
8 needs to be completed, but it's stable now. And we're in  
9 there, and it seems like things are going well. At least I  
10 hope they are. I'm looking at OCI. Looks like they are.

11 And so I have a schedule that I can provide to  
12 the Board to let you know a little bit more in detail of  
13 what we're doing.

14 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes, sir. Thank you. I  
15 would like to know that, because see when I go up there  
16 quite often, I see that the exterior of the building is  
17 quite dark. Plus when you stand up or walk up on the  
18 sidewalk from the parking lot, I did request that something  
19 be done for citizens to be able to see that that is an up  
20 place. And there's no wheelchair ramp.

21 AC WHITE: Yes, so that's --

22 COMMISSIONER BURCH: So all that's coming though?

23 AC WHITE: Yes. So the wheelchair ramp is  
24 coming. And that's part of security and upgrades. So the  
25 lighting is part of security and upgrades as well, and

1 that's scheduled to be done. But like I said, I can  
2 provide the Board with that information.

3 COMMISSIONER BIRCH: Thank you.

4 AC WHITE: In fact, if I could ask Sergeant  
5 Alexander to make a note of that, we can get that out to  
6 Facilities.

7 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you so much.

8 COMMISSIONER BELL: We know that Commissioner  
9 Burch's definitely going to look out for Number Eleven.  
10 It's quite clear that's her precinct.

11 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: But we are concerned about  
12 every precinct.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, I know. I mean, you  
14 know, she can speak. Any commissioner can speak to their  
15 particular precinct or any other issue.

16 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Yes, Mr. Chair. First of  
17 all, welcome aboard, and thank you for your report.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yeah, thank you.

19 I want to ask Ms. Faye Johnson, do you have any  
20 comments you might want to make? I'm just looking at  
21 you. Do you have any comments? You're okay?

22 MS. JOHNSON: I can talk to him at another time.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. She'll talk to you at  
24 another time.

25 MS. JOHNSON: I just met him.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: You met him?

2 MS. JOHNSON: No, I have not met him.

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Oh, okay. Okay. Could you  
4 please stand up and introduce yourself, please.

5 MS. JOHNSON: Faye Johnson. I'm the Board  
6 accountant. Yeah, there are some issues that I would like  
7 to discuss with you, but not at this time.

8 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Okay.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: And now you have met.

10 MS. JOHNSON: Yes.

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: But you want to get together.

12 And that is our point person in reference to the budget.

13 And Mr. Davis is the co-chair -- Commissioner Davis.

14 Anyway, thank you for -- like you said --  
15 Commissioner Brown said, welcome aboard. And we're looking  
16 forward to working with you, and we wish you the best.

17 MR. NAZARKO: Same here, Mr. Chair. Thank you.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: The next item would be  
19 Directive 307.6, the Use of Traffic Light-Mount Cameras,  
20 and Facial Recognition Technology. So that's going to be  
21 Assistant Chief White?

22 AC WHITE: Yes, sir. If it pleases the Board,  
23 I'm going to bring up a couple people that will help with  
24 this presentation.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

1 AC WHITE: If I could have Neil Tambe and  
2 Sergeant Alexander. As they approach, as the Board is  
3 aware, we have presented for your approval and review --  
4 review and approval our policy on our technology  
5 improvements with regards to the cameras. I have Planning  
6 Research and Deployment here that's going to talk a little  
7 bit about policy, some of the research that we've done.  
8 And I've got Sergeant Romel Alexander who started in my  
9 office but is now assigned the Planning who's going to kind  
10 of unpack some of the issues with regards to how we're  
11 going to deploy this technology.

12 But I want to set the stage by just saying that  
13 this is a two-fold approach. And our policy is aimed at  
14 protecting our citizens, but more importantly protecting  
15 our citizen's privacy and improving public safety.  
16 That's the nexus of this whole initiative: (A) Public  
17 safety to protect those who live, work or visit our great  
18 city; and to certainly give the criminal element less of  
19 an opportunity to be successful in their endeavors.

20 We want them to make a business decision. Much  
21 like we talked about with the army veteran who was  
22 victimized -- innocent victim victimized and carjacked, and  
23 this person seeing themselves on television saying, hey,  
24 you know, this is a bad choice. We're hoping that others  
25 look at that and don't make that choice.

1           So with that, I'm going the start off with Mr.  
2   Tambe.

3           MR. TAMBE: Good afternoon. Thank you to the  
4   Board, and thank you Assistance Chief White. And, again,  
5   my name is Neil Tambe. I'm a strategic project manager  
6   within Administrative Operations. And thank you for giving  
7   us the opportunity to talk with you. And to echo what  
8   Assistant Chief White had said, improving safety for  
9   residents is the focus of our department. And there are  
10   many strategies to do that, but we know that working with  
11   the community and using technology improves safety. And  
12   here are just a few brief data points that illustrate that  
13   data sentiment.

14           So from the period of 2014 to 2018, part one  
15   violent crimes fell by 14%; combined homicides and  
16   nonfatal shootings fell by 25%, and carjackings fell by  
17   43%. And also as of today, our year-to-date homicide  
18   closure rate is 62%. And really what these data  
19   illustrate is -- you know, there are many parts to this  
20   strategy, but one thing that is definitely a valuable  
21   tool to help investigators close cases is cameras. And  
22   that's, of course, the topic of our conversation today.

23           To increase safety -- use of camera technology  
24   increases safety in four main ways. First, camera  
25   technology increases safety by supporting criminal

1 investigations and investigators with the evidence, the  
2 valuable evidence, that images and footage provide. And  
3 that occurs both for violent crimes as well as quality of  
4 life crimes. So that's one way.

5           The second way is that cameras allow the police  
6 department to conduct search and patrol in problematic  
7 areas. The third is in the case of a 9-1-1 service and a  
8 camera being nearby or at the location, it allows the first  
9 responders responding to the scene situational awareness to  
10 increase the safety of both the responding officers as well  
11 as the people at the scene. And, of course, as we've  
12 spoken about a few times during this meeting, video and  
13 camera footage allows us to work collaboratively with the  
14 community and requests the public's help to identify  
15 suspects when those images, like we've been talking about,  
16 are released on media or social media.

17           AC WHITE: All right. And to that end, there  
18 will be stringent rules that every DPD member must follow  
19 with regards to utilizing these cameras. So with that,  
20 Sergeant Alexander is going to talk through some of those  
21 rules and regulations. And then I'm going to talk a little  
22 bit about the design of the camera, the fact that it is a  
23 camera that is a traffic camera.

24           **A lot of misinformation on the camera itself.**  
25           **The camera is a traffic-mounted camera. We will not be**

1 using those cameras to randomly select people to follow,  
2 randomly select people who would run a light. As you know,  
3 there are some cities if you run a light you get a ticket  
4 in the mail for running the light. So this technology is  
5 out there around the country. And not unlike any other  
6 major city, you know, you're going to interact with this  
7 technology.

8           You can go to some cities and see these cameras  
9 all over. You go to the casino, there's cameras in the  
10 casino. So this is technology that's already out there,  
11 already up and running. Our strategy and plan evolves  
12 around the traffic-mounted camera. If you don't commit a  
13 crime -- and we're not talking about a civil infraction.  
14 We're not talking about your ran a light. We're talking  
15 about you use a gun, you rob somebody, you carjacked  
16 somebody. Then that's when you come to our attention, and  
17 that's when we will use that technology to identify the  
18 perpetrators, and only the perpetrators, of violent crimes  
19 in the city. And with that, Sarge, you can get into it.

20           COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Question. Do you plan to  
21 provide us with a harped cop of what's on screen?

22           AC WHITE: We can. I was --

23           COMMISSIONER DAVIS: You should always do that.

24           AC WHITE: Okay. Well I was asked yesterday to  
25 come and speak on this.



1 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Okay.

2 AC WHITE: But it's no problem getting the Board  
3 a copy.

4 SGT. ALEXANDER: Good afternoon, Board. Sergeant  
5 Alexander assigned to Support Operations. Currently  
6 working at Planning Research & Deployment. Thank you, AC.

7 AC kind of teed it up for me a little bit, as  
8 you can see here. But just as a general matter, you  
9 know, Planning, Research & Deployment, we're continually  
10 looking at policies. And we don't do that in a vacuum;  
11 we look at other agencies for best practices to ensure  
12 that obviously we provide the best information we can for  
13 our members and also continue to deliver constitutional  
14 based policing.

15 And with that again, as you said, sir -- AC,  
16 first and foremost, with this specific policy I'll speak  
17 to, we want to honor our citizen's privacy and improve  
18 public safety. And with that there are certain things that  
19 our members can do with respect to this policy -- I have it  
20 here -- and there are things they certainly cannot and will  
21 not do.

22 First and foremost, this technology will be used  
23 only for law enforcement purposes. That's obvious, right?  
24 And here we have just three examples of what those are:  
25 Criminal investigation -- for the purpose of investigating

1 criminal activity; pursuit of a suspect, and monitoring  
2 activity which we reasonably expect will occur, or is  
3 occurring and will occur. And I'd like to add to that in  
4 preparation also of an investigation, and certainly of an  
5 ongoing one as well.

6 Another point is -- I'm sorry -- another  
7 allowable usage is to create or analyze intelligence,  
8 gather it by use of this technology now. The threshold we  
9 have here is at least have reasonable suspicion. Obviously  
10 I won't get too technical, but probable cause is an  
11 absolute. But our threshold here is reasonable suspicion.  
12 So we need less than probable cause to use this technology,  
13 to leverage this technology.

14 AC WHITE: And if I may, Board -- not to  
15 interrupt you, Sarge -- but I want to make sure that we --  
16 before we get too policey [sic] with it that we just kind  
17 of talk about what we're talking about.

18 So by way of example, we talked, again, the  
19 carjacked veteran. But let's talk about the gentleman with  
20 the Cardia glasses, the unfortunate victim, 18-year-old,  
21 just graduated, looking forward to going to college, a  
22 basketball star; someone made the unbelievable decision to  
23 try to take his glasses. When they didn't get them, they  
24 shot him. So that's the type of perpetrator that we want  
25 to aggressively look for, okay. Not the person who ran the

1 yellow light. Not the person who ran the stop sign. This  
2 is the type of focus that this person needs. This is where  
3 we will go to that technology and look at the route in  
4 which that person left that scene to get them off the  
5 street. Because let's be clear, that's not the first  
6 victim. You don't make those types of decisions on your  
7 first victim. Okay? And it probably would not be that  
8 person's last victim. However, and thank goodness, the  
9 hard work of the men and women of the Detroit Police  
10 Department brought that perpetrator under custody recently.

11           The cab driver at the 600 block of Collingwood  
12 fatally shot. And we took a 35-year-old male into  
13 custody as a result of that. Again, a senseless crime.  
14 No logic. Not defending themselves, just victimizing  
15 someone. We had a freeway shooting earlier this year; a  
16 3-year-old shot on Southfield freeway, approximately 6:40  
17 p.m. 6:40 p.m. on his way to see Sesame Street with his  
18 godmother. Crime intel used photos, used our records  
19 management data to get the information from the license  
20 plate, and we were able to get this violent offender who  
21 victimized, killed a 3-year-old who was on their way to  
22 see Sesame Street. So that's the focus of this. It's to  
23 get those people off the street. Go ahead.

24           SGT. ALEXANDER: Okay. Thank you, sir. And this  
25 next point here complies with the applicable -- I want to

1 take the ambiguity out of that. I want to talk about what  
2 members can do. No, we will absolutely and shall comply --  
3 as we do with all our policies, comply with applicable  
4 federal, state, and local law with use of this technology.

5 And lastly here, in keeping -- in comporting with  
6 the Michigan Retention Policy, and certainly our own  
7 internally, these images and video will be deleted after  
8 30 days unless needed for a litigation or investigation  
9 purposes.

10 Now it cannot -- I want to stress emphatically  
11 we will not do these things --

12 AC WHITE: I'm going to take that one.

13 SGT. ALEXANDER: Yes, sir.

14 AC WHITE: We have very strict, direct policy  
15 that we will not use this information to enforce  
16 noncriminal traffic laws. That is what has been put out  
17 there. That is absolutely erroneous. And you -- I'm on  
18 camera, I'm on audio, and I'm telling this Board, we will  
19 not enforce noncriminal track laws, pedestrian laws, or  
20 civil infraction with this technology.

21 We also will not or cannot -- member cannot  
22 assess immigration status or engage in immigration  
23 enforcement. That's very important. We cannot use facial  
24 recognition unless there's reasonable suspicion -- I'll say  
25 it again -- unless there's reasonable suspicion that it

1 will provide useful information relevant to an active or  
2 ongoing investigation. And then we will not use, cannot  
3 use facial recognition with live video stream. So, you  
4 know, again, I've heard that live video streams are being  
5 put into our facial recognition system and then we're  
6 spitting out information on the other end.

7           Also I think people need to understand too that  
8 not only is the technology already in use daily in our  
9 normal day-to-day operation, but if you pulled out your  
10 drivers license it doesn't say driver's, apostrophe "s",  
11 it says driver. And the reason for that is it's not  
12 yours. The reason why if you get pulled over and you  
13 refuse to participate in a PBT if it's suspected that  
14 you've been drinking or under intoxicants is because of  
15 the right you have to the drivers license or those rights  
16 that you do not have; meaning that it's a privilege to  
17 drive. And failure to participate in a PBT is immediate  
18 revocation of your driving privileges until you can prove  
19 that you weren't intoxicated.

20           So the same concept -- the picture on the  
21 driver's license, that information is used because you  
22 provided it. So this is no new technology; it's just being  
23 leveraged in law enforcement. And I think it's important  
24 that everybody understands that.

25           SGT. ALEXANDER: Well, thank you, AC. That

1 actually is the extent of my portion of the presentation.

2 I believe thanks is in order, and any questions you may  
3 have.

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir. We want to make  
5 sure as we continue towards our hearing date that the  
6 commissioners will be knowledgeable in reference to this  
7 item before we open it up to the -- it's open to the public  
8 now. We got quite a few responses. So any commissioners,  
9 any questions or concerns you might want to raise.

10 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Mr. Chair, not a question --

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

12 COMMISSIONER BURCH: -- just a comment to help  
13 out Chief White. Because you're on fire with this. So I  
14 feel just a suggestion to you and to Chief Craig. Do you  
15 think perhaps you could start the PSAs, like doing a public  
16 service announcement like you do on the freeways using a  
17 Buckle It Or Ticket It? Make something to let the people  
18 know the reason for using the camera so they won't be so  
19 upset and making the wrong conception of what you just  
20 said? Do you see what I'm saying? Do some PSAs about  
21 that?

22 AC WHITE: Well I don't know -- with respect to  
23 the PSA, I think the appropriate venue is what we're doing  
24 now; it's public conversation. And I appreciate it, and  
25 thank you all for allowing us to have this moment prior to

1 the big meeting that we're going to have on the  
2 information. And certainly pending the Board's approval  
3 and other approval with regards to the financing of this  
4 matter, I think PSA would certainly be in order.

5 But also there needs to be the appropriate  
6 narrative associated with what we're doing. I mean, the  
7 cameras -- cameras are out there. They're everywhere.  
8 We're using them. We see the value, the value add that  
9 they bring. But I think the appropriate narrative is the  
10 fact that we're not going to leverage this technology  
11 against the innocent citizens, nor are we going to infringe  
12 upon their privacy right. And so we need everyone's help  
13 in communicating that.

14 And I think that that becomes evident when we're  
15 bringing violent offenders to justice using this technology  
16 as opposed to a jaywalker. So we just have to make sure  
17 that the messaging is appropriate and that the fear-mongers  
18 are not creating this environment that we're coming after  
19 people who have not victimized our community.

20 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Through the Chair.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am?

22 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you very much for this  
23 report. And I co-sign on the suggestion that was made by  
24 Commissioner Brown that we receive this presentation in  
25 hard copy. Because it really presents to us in a succinct

1 manner the objective of the Detroit Police Department,  
2 especially as it relates to the facial recognition.

3 Assistant Chief White, I also appreciate the fact  
4 that you resonate the objective of the DPD in terms of  
5 citizen's safety as well as citizen's privacy. Because  
6 sometimes -- even in my example where I say I was  
7 assaulted; not physically, body-wise assaulted, when  
8 someone broke into my home, when a car from my -- that was  
9 parked in front of my home -- one of my grandbaby's  
10 girlfriends was visiting from school. We wake up the next  
11 morning -- the girls had gone out, came in about 3:00.  
12 Around 6:00 in the morning, the car is in front of my house  
13 propped up on large bricks that came from my backyard. I  
14 mean, just the insult.

15 And, again, when I eluded to the fact of the  
16 gentleman who -- in my neighborhood who was cutting his  
17 grass and was faced with the tragedy of being robbed and  
18 assaulted. I sometimes wonder are we looking out for just  
19 everyday citizens who are abiding the laws when we talk  
20 about the privacy of folks in the case of some of the  
21 criminals?

22 I think you can know -- I think it was in Chicago  
23 they put a monitor on this drug dealers vehicle, I think,  
24 and he was able to basically use that invasion of his  
25 privacy to combat the eventual sentence. I think that was



1 the accusation. But again, to say that we should overkill,  
2 in my example with my three assaults, the privacy of  
3 criminals. You know, I really sometimes become whereas I  
4 don't feel as safe as I'm sure the Detroit Police  
5 Department and Mayor Duggan wants his citizens to feel.

6 So your presentation and the fact that you  
7 emphasized safety and privacy is something, as Commissioner  
8 Burch has mentioned, you need to hear it more often. Hear  
9 it more often. Because people are very suspect of the  
10 camera. And if you've ever seen one of those facial --  
11 well you have, but to the community, if you've ever seen an  
12 example of the facial recognition cameras, they are so  
13 precise. I mean, a person's face almost as small as the  
14 point of this pin, you can recognize that person's nose.

15 So it is scary, I think, when you're out in a  
16 park or someplace and you have to fear that someone is  
17 monitoring you to that degree. But, again, thank you so  
18 much for the presentation and the opportunity for us to  
19 feel that the DPD is doing its due diligence to make sure  
20 citizens understand the objective.

21 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I have a question.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir.

23 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Do you think that you're  
24 going to be able to get the false hits or the false facial  
25 recognitions for black and brown people down to the same

1 level it is for white people?

2 AC WHITE: Through the Chair. I'm glad you asked  
3 that question. In fact, I was going to comment on facial  
4 recognition based on the previous comments. So those of us  
5 who are familiar with Facebook know that that technology is  
6 on Facebook now, right? So you have a picture, and  
7 sometimes you hover over it, and you see a person's name  
8 you know that's on it. But sometimes you see a person's  
9 name you know that's on it. Sometimes you see a person's  
10 name; that's not the person, but it looks very similar to  
11 them.

12 So we're not making arrest determinations based  
13 on facial recognition alone. However, what we do is use it  
14 as yet another tool to see if it's the person we're looking  
15 for. So there -- you know, as far as getting the false  
16 hits down, that's one area of concern. But knowing that  
17 concern causes us to go additional layers through the  
18 process. My face, for example, I come up multiple people  
19 all the time. I have a very common face, I guess. But as  
20 you know, it's based on the measurement of your nose, your  
21 forehead, your cheekbone and things like that. And when  
22 you talk about African Americans, it's not picking up on  
23 pigmentation, it's actually picking up on spacing and those  
24 types of things.

25 So as the technology gets better, certainly it'll

1 remove those false hits. But the Detroit Police Department  
2 will not and does not make arrest solely based on whatever  
3 hit comes back on facial recognition. Now what it say to  
4 us is the person you're looking for that shot the  
5 three-year-old is James White. Okay? And it comes back to  
6 me because of my facial structures. AC, did you do it?  
7 No, it wasn't me. So now we have to look at the fact that  
8 he was at work; he was sitting at the Board -- I'm being a  
9 bit facetious, but at the same time you understand that you  
10 have to walk everything back to the point as if it is in  
11 fact that person. Sometimes it gives you multiple people  
12 that it could be. And sometimes it gives -- none of those  
13 people turn out to be the case.

14 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: One other question. Will  
15 anyone else potentially have access to our system if we was  
16 to go forward with this? Like another agency of federal  
17 state, county?

18 AC WHITE: Access -- through the Chair, access  
19 through the system in sharing of information. Access to  
20 the system, no. Sharing of the information, yes.

21 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Okay. That's it.

22 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Mr. Chair.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir.

24 COMMISSIONER BROWN: AC and Sarge, thank you for  
25 the report. I'm glad we're moving towards this. My

1 concern is one to Commissioner Holt's comment. And I don't  
2 mean to be facetious, but only the suspects are going to be  
3 suspect by these cameras.

4 But the virtual patrols; how and when is that  
5 information and things going to be used? And is it going  
6 to be used at a random point of something that's being done  
7 on a daily basis, or -- I mean, is it going to be used to  
8 say, we're looking for the carjack -- let's say the guy  
9 that carjacked the veteran. If we did a virtual patrol and  
10 then you could get a hit on a facial recognition, are these  
11 things going to be used to track other things or other  
12 criminality issues that's going on?

13 AC WHITE: Through the Chair, I think I  
14 understand your question. So virtual patrol and facial  
15 recognition will not necessarily run together. In fact, in  
16 many instances they will not. So the facial recognition  
17 will be used if we have -- so we won't have an instance if  
18 we're looking for a black male, run all black males.  
19 That's not going to happen. We're look for a white male.  
20 What will happen is the person who committed this crime,  
21 who is it? So the person who we see pulling the glasses  
22 off of the young man and victimizing him, who is this  
23 person? And let's use facial recognition to determine who  
24 that is.

25 We wouldn't go the other way. We wouldn't go,

1 give me all black males facial recognition run and so I can  
2 see who it is. That would be inappropriate and unethical.  
3 So we have to have a suspect first. We have to know we're  
4 looking for a person. This person did this crime; now does  
5 anyone know who this person is? So that keeps everything  
6 appropriate and follows our policy.

7 But then the next piece that you mentioned with  
8 the virtual patrol, which runs independent, it will be very  
9 similar to using it -- or a good application of virtual  
10 patrol would be what was presented by the Board today with  
11 regards to -- I believe it was characterized as street  
12 walkers, using the term that was presented. That would be  
13 a great opportunity to use virtual patrol in that area. If  
14 you've got a camera, not these cameras but other cameras in  
15 that area, that you can utilize to focus on an area to see  
16 if, in fact, it's happening and then send resources into  
17 that area to make the appropriate arrest or issue the  
18 appropriate tickets.

19 Why that would be beneficial there is, as the  
20 Board is aware, once you come into that area with scout  
21 cars it will scatter, and you won't know what's happening.  
22 So there's an opportunity. But please understand, we would  
23 not go into that misdemeanor environment, because  
24 prostitution and flagging is a misdemeanor. So that would  
25 be an application for facial recognition. We wouldn't be

1 trying to find out who these folks via facial recognition,  
2 but utilizing a camera system for virtual patrol would be  
3 appropriate.

4 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Through Chair --

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

6 COMMISSIONER HOLT: -- one last comments perhaps.  
7 Assistant Chief, you mentioned about tickets being  
8 associated -- the giving of tickets being a consequence of  
9 the cameras and the traffic signals --

10 AC WHITE: Yes.

11 COMMISSIONER HOLT: -- and that that would not be  
12 allowed. Is that whole notion grounded in what is state  
13 law for the state of Michigan? Is it?

14 AC WHITE: Through the Chair, no. In fact, many  
15 communities use traffic cameras to enforce traffic laws.  
16 Our intention is not to utilize the information from the  
17 traffic cameras to enforce traffic laws. It's to use it  
18 for violent offenders as it relates to the police  
19 enforcement activities.

20 The Traffic Enforcement Unit nonpolice for the  
21 city may make traffic pattern decisions, lighting decisions  
22 and things like that as a result of the data. But with  
23 regards to the police department, our intention is to  
24 utilize it for violent offenders only not to be enforcing  
25 traffic. But it's very common in other cities.

1 COMMISSIONER HOLT: I know in Houston. I  
2 received a ticket, so --

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. Well it's been a very  
4 lively, informative type discussion as we move forward.  
5 That's why we wanted to make sure that the commissioners  
6 and -- make sure they get a hard copy. As we stated, they  
7 got a short request. And I think it's very important that  
8 they come before us as we move forward. So any other  
9 concerns you might have, you know, just really work it up.  
10 But I want you to be that beacon of enlightenment for the  
11 community as your role as police commissioners as we move  
12 forward in the community. And that's why we have this  
13 forum.

14 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you.

15 MR. HICKS: Excuse me, Mr. Chair.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir?

17 MR. HICKS: I do think it's important to indicate  
18 that although this particular directive is being brought to  
19 the attention of the Board, there is a companion process  
20 that is taking place in the city as well; and that's an  
21 ordinance that's being constructed by the Detroit City  
22 Council. And that ordinance embraces -- should embrace  
23 much more than the focus that's in this particular case.  
24 So some of the issues that are going to come up or more  
25 than likely to come up in the public hearing which you will

1 have on the 13th are probably going to be addressed in that  
2 ordinance related to the Detroit City Council. And amongst  
3 those types of issues are things like -- I know some  
4 suggestions that we've made, for example, that there be an  
5 auditing of the use of the facial recognition, the hits and  
6 so forth. Not by us as a Board, but by some panel of  
7 citizen volunteers, that was the construction that we put  
8 forth, so that we could test to see whether or not, one,  
9 the equipment is used correctly; whether or not the hits  
10 are accurate or close to accurate. Because the question of  
11 them not being audited creates the problem as opposed to  
12 anything else.

13 And then the other issue that was raised was the  
14 use or the sharing of some of the technology, particularly  
15 as it relates to -- with employers and other kinds of  
16 things. To prohibit those things by city ordinance as  
17 opposed to directive of the police department was the focus  
18 in which we were attempting to go in that regard. So I did  
19 want to just indicate there is a companion process. And  
20 largely some of the things that you're likely to hear at  
21 the public hearing is not going to fall into this  
22 particular bailiwick; it is going to really fall into the  
23 broader ordinance in which the City Council is  
24 constructing.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.



1 OCI is the next item on the agenda for our  
2 meeting. Dr. Polly McAllister.

3 DR. MCALLISTER: Thank you. Good afternoon  
4 again.

5 THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

6 DR. MCALLISTER: So this month is our April  
7 reporting, and sadly, we had a 41% increase. I don't know  
8 if people are just feeling more comfortable with reporting.  
9 So we did have a 41% increase for April.

10 This is our citizen complaints based on each  
11 department. And for this month, sadly, the Sixth  
12 Precinct had an increase; the Second Precinct is up to  
13 eight, and the Twelfth Precinct is up to eight. The  
14 other numbers are basically consistent. The Fourth  
15 Precinct did have a little peak for Seven. And as  
16 always, the unknowns are always high.

17 For our offensive slurs and profanity,  
18 Commissioner Bell, we'll still monitoring this. However,  
19 for April we had nine uses of profanity, and three were  
20 of the "F" word. The offensive slurs were a person got a  
21 ticket, and the officer said happy birthday; hear you go.  
22 Another one was, kick rocks. So we're getting like just  
23 little smart comments that are insensitive to the  
24 citizens, and they're complaining about it.

25 Here's our closed complaints. For Procedure,

1 forty-two, and demeanor thirty-one. We're still  
2 consistent with the same issues, demeanor and procedure.  
3 Service goes up and down, but as always, demeanor and  
4 procedure are our two biggest issues.

5           Electronic evidence: Out of thirty-seven,  
6 thirty-two were actually captured. The five, we're  
7 trying to figure out -- the body mics didn't sync with  
8 the car videos, and some of them the officers didn't have  
9 the body worn cameras. So we're addressing that with  
10 different commanders as well.

11           So for our DPD members by seniority and rank;  
12 we did have a reduction for police officers this month  
13 for April. We were down twenty-eight, which was  
14 extremely good. Lieutenant stayed status quo. For sworn  
15 members with two or more citizen's complaints, twenty to  
16 twenty-nine years we had one, and for three to four years  
17 we had one. So in some areas we're getting better; some  
18 areas we're kind of staying status quo, and others we're  
19 kind of peaky.

20           For our complaint trends, as always we're  
21 peaking out towing complaints. Officers are towing  
22 vehicles and not really having probable cause to tow the  
23 car. Such as if a car is parked on the street, officers  
24 would tow it and say that the car didn't have insurance.  
25 And then the person comes and files a complaint with us.

1 Major another issue is police officers shooting  
2 the dog. This is not just a Detroit issue; this is across  
3 the country. I think the department is going in the right  
4 direction, because they're host ago two-day training event  
5 with the Michigan Humane Society. But just to show you how  
6 it can become a bigger problem, in San Jose a person was  
7 awarded \$1.2 million for the shooting of their three dogs  
8 by the police. And then \$300,000 for a dog shot in  
9 Chicago. And \$100,000 for a dog shot in Iowa. All three  
10 of these are jury trials. And juries are, you know, more  
11 prone to be more sensitive for people with pets. But it  
12 can become a problem.

13 So last month you heard from the Professional  
14 Standard. And we decided to make a report that we could  
15 present to the Board. And that information will include  
16 the member's name, the allegation, department, corrective  
17 action, and the disposition. So if there's anything else  
18 that you may think that you may want in that report, let  
19 me know immediately so I can give it to them so they can  
20 add it in.

21 We were asked to speak at the academy, but they  
22 had to change the date. We were going June 10th, but they  
23 had to change the date on us. But I will stay say,  
24 Commissioner Burch, make sure you have your presentation  
25 about integrity ready. And Commissioner Bell make sure

1 that you have your story that they requested from the last  
2 class ready. And as always, we'll continue to build our  
3 relationship with DPD in different departments.

4 And this is how you file a complaint with us  
5 (Indicating). You can either come to where we're located,  
6 at 900 Merrill Plaisance, or you can call us at 596-2499,  
7 or fax us, or send it to us online.

8 And, Commissioner Brown, you did request some  
9 information regarding Supervising Investigator Cromwell  
10 to present regarding consent decree. So he's going to  
11 make it really short from our last training.

12 MR. CROMWELL: Supervising Investigator Cromwell,  
13 for the record.

14 In early April 2019 the chief investigator  
15 conducted a training for BPC members assigned to the  
16 Citizen Complaint Subcommittee. Part of this session  
17 included a discussion regarding Detroit Consent Decree.  
18 And Commissioners Brown and Burch were present at the  
19 meeting.

20 Consent decrees for police departments began in  
21 1994 and have continued with the most recent one in March  
22 of 2019 for the city of Chicago. Consent decree is a court  
23 order that establishes an enforceable plan for sustainable  
24 reform. The City and the Department of Justice were  
25 ordered to implement a number of policy changes and reforms

1 which were aimed at eliminating patterns of misconduct and  
2 improve research.

3 Some experts say that a consent decree is the  
4 most effective tool available to reform a police  
5 department. Other experts say that a proper oversight and  
6 risk management were in place, there should be no need for  
7 a consent decree.

8 Discussion of the consent decree with  
9 commissioners described to them how things, including  
10 several shootings which cost the city of Detroit millions  
11 of dollars, escalated to the point where a consent decree  
12 had to be ordered. The court order included such areas as  
13 identifying patterns of misconduct in a timely manner and  
14 what steps the City needed to take to eliminate this  
15 misconduct.

16 Use of force and condition of confinements were  
17 two major areas that the Department of Justice focused on  
18 for the Detroit Police Department. They implemented  
19 revision to the use of force policy and training with the  
20 emphasis on de-escalation techniques, required written  
21 supervisory review of arrest for probable cause, as well as  
22 prohibit the detention for conveyance of an individual  
23 without reasonable suspicion, and also to improve the  
24 procedures for investigating allegations of misconduct or  
25 completing investigations in a thorough, fair, and

1 objective manner.

2 The consent decree brought reforms to nearly  
3 every aspect of the police department and their policies.  
4 The Department of Justice investigation began in 2000 and  
5 concluded around 2016. We provided some documentation to  
6 Commissioners Brown and Burch, and we welcome the  
7 opportunity to meet with other commissioners when the  
8 time permits.

9 I just want to give a little brief explanation of  
10 the consent decree for commissioners who were not  
11 present -- when they were not present during that time.  
12 And we still want to extend our welcome to you to come to  
13 OCI and get some more detailed information if you'd like.  
14 That's it.

15 DR. McALLISTER: Thank you sir. And as always,  
16 we're going to still continue with our theme to improve and  
17 inspire.

18 And do you have any questions?

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners?

20 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Mr. Chairman, I just want to  
21 take the time to thank Dr. McAllister and Supervising  
22 Investigator Cromwell for bringing that information before  
23 the Board. I also want to thank AC Cromwell with all his  
24 help. He's been a wealth of information and support for  
25 the OCI and with any questions I have for NACO with -- he's

1 a wealth of information and good tool for helping out with  
2 a lot of the things and questions I had about NACO. I want  
3 to just thank him. Thank you too, Dr. McAllister.

4 DR. McALLISTER: You're welcome.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners?

6 COMMISSIONER HOLT: I too through the Chair say  
7 thank you, Dr. McAllister. And the fact that the stats  
8 went up is unfortunate, but apparently there is a show of  
9 intervention as it relates to the Eighth Precinct.

10 DR. McALLISTER: Yes.

11 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Because those numbers have  
12 gone down.

13 DR. McALLISTER: Absolutely, they have.

14 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Mr. Chair.

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

16 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes. To Dr. McAllister and  
17 Investigator Cromwell, thank you so much for all the  
18 information that you give us. But here I have a question.  
19 I think I've asked it before, so maybe you can give me  
20 clarity.

21 In your position as investigators, would it not  
22 help you all in the different cases that come before you --  
23 for instance, I did ask for a report of how many of the  
24 precincts in Detroit have recording devices. Would this  
25 not be of assistance to you all as investigators that we

1 get like a two part opinion when citizens call in to make a  
2 complaint? There's really no evidence of that report,  
3 because usually it's between that officer and the citizen.  
4 So if it was recorded, you could go back and say you said  
5 this or the citizen said that. Would this be a benefit to  
6 you as investigators with all the technology if all of our  
7 precincts could have recorders in their precinct when  
8 they're -- even if they're not there?

9 DR. McALLISTER: Yes. Absolutely.

10 COMMISSIONER BURCH: You know how they would be  
11 able to go back and say, I called because it's on the  
12 recorder. I did call such and such a date. Do you  
13 understand where I'm coming from chief over there?

14 AC WHITE: Yes, I do ma'am.

15 COMMISSIONER BURCH: And I've said that.

16 DR. McALLISTER: Yes.

17 COMMISSIONER BURCH: So can we do that? I'm  
18 asking you, Chief.

19 DR. McALLISTER: AC White?

20 AC WHITE: Well I got get to what exactly the ask  
21 is. Is it for recording devices?

22 DR. McALLISTER: So sometimes we'll get a  
23 complaint that the citizen called the front desk, and the  
24 officer was rude or cussed them out. We have no way of  
25 tracking that or -- because a lot of the phone lines are



1 not recorded. So Commissioner Burch has been tracking  
2 that. And we did talk to -- I believe his name was --  
3 Fantasy or Hennessy?

4 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Jack Hennessy.

5 DR. McALLISTER: Yes. So he provided us with a  
6 list --

7 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Right.

8 DR. McALLISTER: -- and the precinct phones  
9 weren't on there, and she was kind of concerned about that.

10 AC WHITE: Yes. So through the Chair, going back  
11 to the budgeted dollars for security and upgrades. All  
12 precinct desk phones should be recorded. That's our  
13 policy. Now when we've moved the precincts around and no  
14 investment in the infrastructure for years, we've lost that  
15 technology. Eight does record. Five does record. And six  
16 will be recording. So we just need to speed up the process  
17 in making the desk phones.

18 The other phone recording would not be  
19 appropriate, because it does infringe upon the rights of  
20 the officers. So the ones on the desk when you call in and  
21 talk to a citizen, that main number should be recorded.

22 COMMISSIONER BURCH: So that's something going to  
23 be done?

24 AC WHITE: That --

25 COMMISSIONER BURCH: It should be recorded.

1 AC WHITE: We should be moving quite aggressively  
2 with that. So can I follow back up with the Board on where  
3 we are with that, because I'm surprised to hear that we're  
4 falling that far behind.

5 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you, Dr. McAllister.  
6 Now it's out there. It's going to be fixed.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

8 DR. MCALLISTER: Thank you.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: We move on to any standing or  
10 ad hoc committee reports.

11 Next item will be report from Mr. Hicks, the  
12 Board secretary.

13 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I simply want  
14 to call your attention to two items that are listed on the  
15 agenda today. I always repeat that these items are listed  
16 on the agenda as incoming or external communications and  
17 not necessarily on this time for Board action.

18 But in this particular case, you have two items.  
19 One of them was a communications that was sent to us, and  
20 it was referred to Chief Craig. And this is a proposal for  
21 renewal protection and game. This was provided by -- I  
22 believe it was a citizen or at least an entrepreneur who  
23 was interested in doing business with the police  
24 department. The chief and/or his staff examined the  
25 request and provided us with a response. And I'm sure that

1 they shared that response with the particular person who  
2 originally sent the communication to us. And the essence  
3 of that response is that the City has a process where it  
4 brings in vendors, evaluate vendors and make determinations  
5 about the relationship that they have with utilizing police  
6 resources.

7 The second item is the PowerPoint presentation  
8 on DPD Finance, which you witnessed today. And I believe  
9 you -- there's a promise to get that complete packet to  
10 you within, I assume, the next day or so that you -- if  
11 you have any particular questions. But those were the  
12 items that came into the office, and I'm simply reporting  
13 out that they came in.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

15 Old business?

16 (No response)

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: New business?

18 (No response)

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Announcements. Our next  
20 meeting will be on Thursday, June 6, 2019 at 3:00 p.m.,  
21 Public Safety Headquarters. Our next community meeting is  
22 going to be on Thursday June 13, 6:30 p.m., Second  
23 Precinct, St. John Lutheran Church at 4950 Oakman  
24 Boulevard.

25 And we're moving on to oral communications from

1 the audience. You have two minutes. Mr. Brown's going to  
2 be calling you up. I would hope that you'd be -- respect  
3 the process; that we respect you to give you that  
4 opportunity. It is not a right; it's a privilege.

5 MR. BROWN: Mr. Chair, I have six speakers.  
6 First speaker will be Ms. Faith; followed by Mr. Alvin  
7 Stokes; followed by Ms. Delores Orr. I don't see Ms. --  
8 oh, she's back there.

9 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Mr. Chair, can you just ask  
10 all of them to come to the front?

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, I can.

12 MR. BROWN: Mr. Stokes, Mr. Blunt, Michael  
13 McCullough, and Mr. Scotty Bowman, can you guys come to the  
14 front?

15 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I think she's first  
16 (Indicating). The lady in back of you should be first.

17 MR. BROWN: Ms. Faith.

18 MS. FAITH: Well good afternoon.

19 THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

20 MS. FAITH: For the record, my name is Ms. Faith.  
21 And as I always say, I appreciate every one of you all the  
22 time; the hard work that you all do. And the presentation  
23 provided by Dr. Polly was very good. I want to make a  
24 comment on that. Every time that she has a presentation,  
25 she does a wonderful job.

1           And I just -- I wanted to say this. This is  
2 something different that I don't usually do. If a person  
3 has knowledge that from the meetings that we hear some  
4 areas or neighborhoods where there's violence that's unsafe  
5 for people to be in, who would the person speak to  
6 regarding that? If the neighborhood is unsafe for some  
7 people that they know, who would they speak to? If they're  
8 elder persons or young persons or whatever their age may  
9 be, who would they speak to get for to get someone to  
10 patrol that area?

11           COMMISSIONER BELL: Yeah, I think Commander Hayes  
12 is going the speak to you afterwards to that particular  
13 matter. He's standing behind you. Thank you.

14           MS. JOHNSON: Okay. And Happy Father's Day early  
15 to all the fathers and to the brothers. So I hope ya'll  
16 enjoy yourselves on that day. And just continue to go  
17 forward in the work that you do to -- awful hard work that  
18 you all do.

19           I went -- I'll make this comment and I'll leave.  
20 That's it about the hard work. I went to visit one of the  
21 county commissioners' office waiting for her to come in.  
22 Her shoes was one place, her purse was another, her coat  
23 was another, and it was all haphazardly piled up. That's  
24 what reminds me of all of ya'll and the hard work that  
25 ya'll do; so busy doing everything that you possibly can do

1 to make this city run with the DPD. Keep going forward.

2 THE BOARD: Thank you.

3 MS. FAITH: Thank you for letting me speak.

4 MR. BROWN: Mr. Stokes, followed by Mr. Blunt.

5 MR. STOKES: Good afternoon to the Board. My  
6 name Alvin Stokes. I'm the president of the City-Wide  
7 Police Community Relations. And through the Chair, I want  
8 to thank the Chaplain Corps. The Chaplain Corps has been a  
9 great help for us at the precinct. I talked to DC Thompson  
10 and asked that each precinct have a chaplain at this  
11 community meeting to both open and close that meeting, and  
12 she guaranteed me that that would happen. And I really  
13 appreciate her for that.

14 The other thing is Precinct Number Ten.  
15 There's only been two presidents for Number Ten since  
16 we've been in existence, and you're looking at one of  
17 them. We're looking to honor Manila Harris who will be  
18 turning 90 years old in September. She ran the Tenth  
19 Precinct for thirty-two years, and we're looking to honor  
20 her as far as her years of service. So with ya'll's help  
21 and AC, we would like to give her certificates of  
22 appreciation for thirty-two years of service as the  
23 president for the Tenth Precinct. Thank you very much.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: That's more or less like a  
25 resolution. If you would make sure we get provided the

1 information then we can entertain that. When is that date?

2 MR. STOKES: I just got the information this  
3 morning --

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

5 MR. STOKES: -- and they're looking at  
6 September 6th.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, we got ample time to  
8 work it out.

9 MR. STOKES: And I'll be in touch with the Board.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, sir.

11 MR. BROWN: Mr. Blunt, followed by Mr.  
12 McCullough.

13 MR. BLUNT: Good afternoon, Board and AC White.  
14 Eric Blunt, a lifelong Detroiter.

15 I beg to differ with you, Commissioner Bell, that  
16 public comment is not a privilege, it's a right. If you're  
17 going to be a civilian oversight you need to know what the  
18 citizens of Detroit are going through. So I think it's a  
19 right, not a privilege.

20 COMMISSIONER BELL: It is a right. But we want  
21 to make sure that you acknowledge the privilege of coming  
22 before the body. Because sometimes I think that we as a  
23 Board --

24 MR. STOKES: I only have two minutes.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: -- we see a great deal of

1 scrutiny in some instances that inappropriate.

2 MR. STOKES: Okay.

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: That's what I meant by that.

4 MR. STOKES: All right. Thank you.

5 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Especially some of the  
6 insults, through the Chair.

7 MR. STOKES: Understood. Still a right.

8 My concern is on this facial recognition. Not  
9 all of us are fearmongers. This city has shown a lack of  
10 compassion for immigrants and its treatment by the federal  
11 agency called ICE. This state has been housing infants who  
12 were taken away from their parents. So to just say that we  
13 are going to adhere to all state and federal and local  
14 regulations may put us in a very horrible situation of  
15 doing just crazy things to people.

16 And I say this, because even the federal laws are  
17 changing. I mean, if you look at the horrible changes that  
18 are being made in this nation regarding abortion, don't  
19 think for a minute that this facial recognition can change  
20 on a dime just like abortion is now.

21 My last point is on something I've noticed, and  
22 I think it's the season. I've been coming to these  
23 meetings for roughly five years. And several years ago,  
24 I believe it was, the issue was brought up on offensive  
25 behavior; and in particular offensive tattoos. AC White,



1 as you sit here today with a short sleeve shirt on, it  
2 reminded me of that issue of what is an offensive tattoo?

3 In Tuesday's printed newspaper there was a story  
4 about a group of Jewish teenagers who pulled a drowning man  
5 out of the water only to find out that he had various  
6 swastika tattoos on his arm and leg. They didn't say  
7 whether or not the Jewish teenagers would have made any  
8 difference, but it sure was offensive to know that they  
9 risked their lives to save someone who really hated theirs.

10 Thank you.

11 MR. BROWN: Mr. McCullough.

12 (No response)

13 MR. BROWN: Mr. Scotty Bowman.

14 MR. BOWMAN: Hello.

15 THE BOARD: Hi there.

16 MR. BOWMAN: I have two issues I want to address  
17 here. And the first one is sort of an FYI, but when I'm  
18 done speaking I would be interested in the answered part of  
19 this.

20 First of all, on the videos posted of past  
21 meetings, the one -- one of the ones labeled as May 15th  
22 without an indicator of Part 1 or Part 2 is actually the  
23 May 22nd video. You may want to check on that.

24 Another thing on the video's posting -- and this  
25 I brought up a while back, that the April 4th video simply

1 had a place holder with a picture of one of the  
2 commissioners, but it did not have the video there. And  
3 that is still the case. I'm really -- and after I'm done  
4 talking, I'd like to know what's up with the April 4th  
5 videos. Is it just like destroyed or unavailable?

6 And finally, on the facial recognition thing, I  
7 also am coming up to talk about that. I have no problem if  
8 there's a picture taken with a Green Light camera at a gas  
9 station and that's used to reference, you know, the book of  
10 -- I suppose it's all digital now -- the database of  
11 mugshots of prior offenders or arrestees to see if it  
12 matches one of their faces. That's okay. That's  
13 reasonable. That's a pretty quick way to help narrow down  
14 the suspect list and then obviously some manual analysis  
15 past that point.

16 What bothers me is the possibility of the  
17 tracking of individuals on a real time basis as they're  
18 traveling around the city, especially with the expansion of  
19 the Green Light cameras at the intersection, using nothing  
20 more than their face. That is very scary and overwhelming.  
21 And when I'm done, I'd like if Assistant Chief White can  
22 clarify whether or not anything even close to that is in  
23 process. Because I know earlier he was commenting on some  
24 of the other specifics of the use of that technology. And  
25 so I'm interested in hearing answers on both of those

1 questions.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Assistant Chief White.

3 AC WHITE: Yeah, through the Chair; there is no  
4 process in place. We're not doing that. We don't follow  
5 people based on facial recognition. We're not moving  
6 through the city using their face to follow them. And if I  
7 characterized it that way, I apologize. I thought what I  
8 had indicated was if in fact a person commits a crime and  
9 we know their path or the track in which they left the  
10 scene of the crime and there are cameras along the route,  
11 we would then access those cameras looking for the vehicle  
12 in which the person was in, not their face. We wouldn't  
13 use that to track their face, or use their fact to track  
14 their movements. We would use whatever vehicle they used  
15 to leave the scene. Much like we do now.

16 If someone were to commit a crime today, we would  
17 ask the community, do you have cameras? And oftentimes  
18 they say, yes, we do. And oftentimes the turn over that  
19 footage, and we're able to see the path in which the person  
20 took and garner more information by tracking the mode in  
21 which they left.

22 Also I want to bring clarification to one thing I  
23 said earlier when one of the commissioners mentioned about  
24 the cameras and traffic enforcement. Automated traffic  
25 enforcement in Michigan is, in fact, legal. Like in

1 Houston where you commit an infraction. An officer in  
2 Michigan has to see the infraction.

3 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Okay, thank you.

4 AC WHITE: But it's not to say that the camera  
5 couldn't be used for traffic enforcement at another level,  
6 which we will not do. I just want to clear up, which we  
7 will not do. So to your point, sir, we are not using  
8 facial recognition to track people.

9 MR. BROWN: Mr. Chair, that was your last one.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. That's the end of  
11 public comments. I want to thank you for your  
12 participation.

13 Before I close, basically, Assistant White,  
14 basically -- and I guess counsel we -- Mr. Hicks, we're  
15 talking about the auditing and monitoring process. That  
16 would be another way of making sure that we're in  
17 compliance with the whole process. Is that correct?

18 AC WHITE: Yes, sir. And I apologize. I don't  
19 remember the gentleman's name, the lifelong Detroiter who  
20 just spoke prior to Mr. Bowman.

21 MR. BLUNT: Eric Blunt.

22 AC WHITE: Mr. Blunt's question -- you know, my  
23 response to that is to hold us accountable. You know, we  
24 have not had any problems. And if there are any violations  
25 or any problems specific to what I brought up today, hold

1 us accountable. And, you know, this Board will hold us  
2 accountable. I sit here often, and they Q&A us on these  
3 issues. And we have an infraction where we have operated  
4 outside of the policies that we've presented here today,  
5 hold this department accountable.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: And on that note, thank you  
7 for your participation, and I'm looking forward to seeing  
8 you next month. Have a safe weekend. And a vote to  
9 adjourn.

10 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: So moved.

11 MR. BROWN: Support.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Moved and supported.

13 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Support.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Discussion?

15 (No response)

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those in favor, aye.

17 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Aye.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Motion carried. We stand  
19 adjourned.

20 (At 4:42 p.m., proceedings concluded)

21

22

23

24

25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY

STATE OF MICHIGAN     )  
                                      )  
COUNTY OF WAYNE     )

I, Donna R. Williams, Certified Shorthand  
Reporter, a Notary Public in and for the above county and  
state, do hereby certify that the above deposition was  
taken before me at the time and place hereinbefore set  
forth; that the witness was by me first duly sworn to  
testify to the truth, and nothing but the truth; that the  
foregoing questions asked and answers made by the witness  
were duly recorded by me stenographically and reduced to  
computer transcription; that this is a true, full and  
correct transcript of my stenographic notes so taken. I  
further certify that I am not related to, nor of counsel  
to either party, nor interested in the event of this  
cause.



DONNA R. WILLIAMS, CSR 6253

My Commission expires 9/15/2022

<hr/>	<b>10th</b> 59:22	<b>26.5</b> 26:12
<b>\$</b>	<b>11:00</b> 21:1	<b>26th</b> 10:13
<hr/>	<b>12</b> 27:23	<b>27th</b> 24:10
<b>\$1</b> 33:7	<b>12%</b> 20:6,7	<b>29.2%</b> 27:3
<b>\$1.2</b> 59:7	<b>13</b> 14:16,20 67:22	<hr/>
<b>\$1.3</b> 29:10	<b>13%</b> 20:6	<b>3</b>
<b>\$1.8</b> 29:12	<b>13th</b> 56:1	<hr/>
<b>\$100,000</b> 59:9	<b>14%</b> 38:15	<b>3</b> 4:8
<b>\$17.1</b> 26:11 27:1	<b>15,000</b> 12:13	<b>3-year-old</b> 43:16,21
<b>\$180,000</b> 28:3	<b>15th</b> 73:21	<b>30</b> 3:2 4:20 44:8
<b>\$2.3</b> 28:18	<b>18-year-old</b> 42:20	<b>307.06</b> 14:3
<b>\$20.7</b> 26:22	<b>19%</b> 20:5	<b>307.6</b> 36:19
<b>\$214</b> 27:16	<b>1977</b> 16:3	<b>31</b> 26:1 29:4
<b>\$215.1</b> 27:15	<b>1986</b> 15:24	<b>31st</b> 27:3,19 30:21 33:5
<b>\$217.6</b> 26:21 27:4	<b>1987</b> 12:4	<b>33</b> 16:1
<b>\$23.6</b> 28:15	<b>1988</b> 17:3,4	<b>35-year-old</b> 43:12
<b>\$23.7</b> 28:14	<b>1994</b> 60:21	<b>3:00</b> 9:9 48:11 67:20
<b>\$238.4</b> 26:20	<b>1:45</b> 24:14	<b>3:00 p.m</b> 3:3
<b>\$27.5</b> 28:17,25	<hr/>	<b>3:02 p.m</b> 3:22
<b>\$29.8</b> 29:1	<b>2</b>	<b>3:07 p.m</b> 7:17
<b>\$300,000</b> 59:8	<hr/>	<b>3:45</b> 23:12
<b>\$314.9</b> 27:5	<b>2</b> 73:22	<hr/>
<b>\$315</b> 27:5	<b>2000</b> 62:4	<b>4</b>
<b>\$4.4</b> 29:6	<b>2005</b> 16:21	<hr/>
<b>\$43.6</b> 26:10	<b>2011</b> 16:21	<b>4</b> 3:8
<b>\$58.5</b> 27:2 28:23	<b>2014</b> 38:14	<b>41%</b> 57:7,9
<b>\$62</b> 28:23	<b>2016</b> 62:5	<b>43%</b> 38:17
<b>\$65,000</b> 29:3	<b>2018</b> 27:21,23 29:4 38:14	<b>45th</b> 10:15,21
<b>\$664,000</b> 28:12	<b>2018-2019</b> 31:14	<b>4950</b> 14:21 67:23
<hr/>	<b>2019</b> 3:2 4:20 5:4 10:13,16	<b>4:42 p.m</b> 77:20
<b>(</b>	14:20 26:1 27:15 29:5 60:14,	<b>4th</b> 73:25 74:4
<hr/>	22 67:20	<hr/>
<b>(A)</b> 37:16	<b>22</b> 10:15	<b>5</b>
<hr/>	<b>22nd</b> 10:13 73:23	<hr/>
<b>1</b>	<b>23</b> 5:4	<b>5</b> 8:4
<hr/>	<b>25%</b> 38:16	<b>5%</b> 20:7
<b>1</b> 4:6 29:4 73:22		<b>596-2499</b> 60:6

---

**6**

---

**6** 67:20  
**6%** 20:7  
**600** 43:11  
**62%** 38:18  
**69.1%** 27:6  
**6:00** 48:12  
**6:30** 9:10 67:22  
**6:40** 43:16,17  
**6th** 71:6

---

**7**

---

**7** 4:2 9:11,12  
**70%-\$75%** 26:18  
**75%** 27:9  
**7th** 21:1,8,12

---

**8**

---

**8** 9:12  
**8%** 20:8,9

---

**9**

---

**9-1-1** 39:7  
**90** 70:18  
**900** 60:6  
**9:00** 21:12

---

**A**

---

**a.m.** 21:1,12 24:14  
**AAC** 12:11  
**abiding** 48:19  
**aboard** 6:13 35:17 36:15  
**abortion** 72:18,20

**absolute** 42:11  
**absolutely** 31:11 44:2,17 63:13 64:9  
**AC** 7:11,13,19 19:8,18,20 21:15 22:2,8,21 23:13 24:9,22 32:6,14 33:16 34:21,23 35:4 36:22 37:1 39:17 40:22,24 41:2,6,7,15 42:14 44:12,14 45:25 46:22 50:2 51:6,18,24 52:13 54:10,14 62:23 64:14, 19,20 65:10,24 66:1 70:21 71:13 72:25 75:3 76:4,18,22  
**academy** 59:21  
**access** 32:8 51:15,18,19 75:11  
**accident** 21:21  
**accountable** 76:23 77:1,2,5  
**accountant** 5:24 36:6  
**accurate** 56:10  
**accusation** 49:1  
**ACFO** 25:24  
**acknowledge** 71:21  
**acknowledges** 17:13  
**action** 12:21 13:1 59:17 66:17  
**active** 45:1  
**activities** 54:19  
**activity** 26:7 29:2 42:1,2  
**actual** 26:11,21 27:6  
**ad** 66:10  
**add** 11:18 42:3 47:8 59:20  
**addition** 6:8 30:3  
**additional** 9:4 22:15 50:17  
**Additionally** 12:2  
**address** 14:7 73:16  
**addressed** 56:1  
**addressing** 58:9  
**adhere** 72:13

**adjourn** 77:9  
**adjourned** 77:19  
**Administrative** 38:6  
**adoption** 17:22  
**advance** 14:14  
**advanced** 14:8,17,19  
**Africa** 12:14  
**African** 11:5 50:22  
**afternoon** 3:5,6 4:3,5,7,9,15 7:2,11,12 8:11,12 13:15,17 19:18,19 25:21 38:3 41:4 57:3,5 68:18,19 70:5 71:13  
**age** 69:8  
**agencies** 41:11  
**agency** 9:22 13:9,11,21 51:16 72:11  
**agenda** 4:20 12:21 57:1 66:15, 16  
**Aggravated** 20:6  
**aggressively** 42:25 66:1  
**ahead** 43:23  
**aided** 24:12  
**aimed** 37:13 61:1  
**air** 12:8,11,12  
**air-conditioning** 33:21  
**Airfield** 12:12  
**Airmen** 12:5,7,10,16  
**Akbar** 7:4  
**alarms** 15:16  
**Alexander** 35:5 37:2,8 39:20 41:4,5 43:24 44:13 45:25  
**allegation** 59:16  
**allegations** 61:24  
**Alliance** 16:14  
**allotted** 15:11  
**allowable** 42:7



**allowed** 54:12  
**allowing** 46:25  
**Alvin** 7:25 68:6 70:6  
**ambiguity** 44:1  
**amended** 26:3,9,19 27:1,5,14  
 28:3 30:12,13,18,20  
**amendments** 30:24  
**America** 21:8  
**American** 11:5,13  
**Americans** 50:22  
**amount** 27:7 28:7,12,15,18  
 30:3 32:24 33:3,6  
**amounts** 26:21 30:12,13  
**ample** 71:7  
**analysis** 74:14  
**analyze** 26:5 42:7  
**analyzed** 26:4  
**and/or** 66:24  
**Anderson** 5:25  
**Annie** 4:9  
**anniversary** 10:21  
**announced** 14:6  
**announcement** 46:16  
**Announcements** 67:19  
**annual** 26:3 27:1,4  
**annualize** 26:6  
**answers** 74:25  
**apologize** 75:7 76:18  
**apostrophe** 45:10  
**apparently** 63:8  
**Applause** 6:15 18:17 19:13  
 25:5  
**applicable** 43:25 44:3  
**application** 53:9,25  
**appointment** 18:5,9

**appreciation** 70:22  
**apprehension** 24:5  
**approach** 37:2,13  
**approval** 5:3 31:18 37:3,4  
 47:2,3  
**approve** 4:19  
**approximately** 24:13,14 26:12  
 43:16  
**April** 57:6,9,19 58:13 60:14  
 73:25 74:4  
**area** 16:9 50:16 53:13,15,17,  
 20 69:10  
**areas** 29:17 39:7 58:17,18  
 61:12,17 69:4  
**arm** 73:6  
**army** 12:11,12 24:10 37:21  
**arrest** 50:12 51:2 53:17 61:21  
**arrestees** 74:11  
**Article** 9:11,12  
**aspect** 33:24 62:3  
**assault** 20:7  
**assaulted** 23:7 48:7,18  
**assaults** 49:2  
**assess** 44:22  
**assigned** 37:9 41:5 60:15  
**assistance** 38:4 63:25  
**assistant** 7:9 9:2 19:16 24:4  
 36:21 38:8 48:3 54:7 74:21  
 75:2 76:13  
**association** 10:11 16:21 23:17  
 27:22  
**assume** 67:10  
**assured** 7:14  
**At-large** 4:4,10  
**Atlanta** 12:13  
**attempted** 20:22

**attempting** 56:18  
**attend** 21:7  
**attendance** 3:10 4:17 13:6  
**ATTENDEES** 3:6 11:10 12:18  
**attending** 3:15 7:3  
**attention** 40:16 55:19 66:14  
**attorney** 5:22  
**audience** 15:6 68:1  
**audio** 44:18  
**audiovisual** 5:16  
**audited** 56:11  
**auditing** 9:20 56:5 76:15  
**Automated** 75:24  
**automobile** 11:6,15  
**Auxiliaries** 16:21  
**Avenue** 12:6  
**aviators** 12:11  
**award** 31:17  
**awarded** 59:7  
**aware** 19:24 21:1 33:23 34:3  
 37:3 53:20  
**awareness** 39:9  
**awful** 69:17  
**aye** 4:24,25 5:8,9 17:25 18:1,  
 13,14 77:16,17

---

**B**

---

**back** 15:8 18:23 23:14 34:6  
 51:3,5,10 64:4,11 65:10 66:2  
 68:8,16 73:25  
**backyard** 23:8,21 48:13  
**bad** 37:24  
**bailiwick** 56:22  
**Baptist** 15:25 16:11,20  
**based** 9:24 41:14 50:4,12,20  
 51:2 57:10 75:5

**basically** 48:24 57:14 76:13, 14

**basis** 52:7 74:17

**basketball** 42:22

**battles** 12:8

**beacon** 55:10

**beg** 71:15

**began** 60:20 62:4

**begin** 14:8

**beginning** 15:10 27:8

**behalf** 3:10 8:22 19:17

**behavior** 72:25

**Bell** 3:5,7,8,23 4:11,14,23 5:1, 7,10 6:13,16,19 7:8,20 8:2,6, 9,19 11:11,24 12:19 13:13,20, 24 14:2 17:24 18:2,12,15 19:1,10,14 21:14,18 23:5 24:2,21,25 25:6,8,13,16 30:8, 10 31:24 32:16 35:8,13,18,23 36:1,3,9,11,18,25 46:4,11 47:21 49:22 51:23 54:5 55:3, 16 56:25 57:18 59:25 62:19 63:5,15 66:7,9 67:14,17,19 68:11 69:11 70:24 71:4,7,10, 15,20,25 72:3 75:2 76:10 77:6,12,14,16,18

**beneficial** 53:19

**benefit** 64:5

**benefits** 27:24,25 29:13 30:20

**Benjamin** 12:16

**big** 47:1

**bigger** 59:6

**biggest** 58:4

**BIRCH** 35:3

**birthday** 57:21

**Bishop** 12:23 15:19,22 16:6, 18,23 17:14

**bit** 6:10 27:16 34:12 37:7 39:22 41:7 51:9

**black** 11:6,16 12:4,10 16:14 49:25 52:18 53:1

**blessing** 8:12

**block** 43:11

**Blossom** 5:23 6:3,6

**Blunt** 8:7 68:12 70:4 71:11,13, 14 76:21

**Blunt's** 76:22

**board** 3:9,10 4:25 5:9,11,21, 22,24 6:11,20 7:2,9,11,12 8:22,25 9:1,6,12 10:3,5,11 11:19 13:17 14:13 16:9,17 17:11,20 18:1,14,18 19:19,24 20:11 21:1,6,7 22:24 25:20 31:17 33:23 34:3,12 35:2 36:5,22 37:2 38:4 41:2,4 42:14 44:18 51:8 53:10,20 55:19 56:6 57:5 59:15 62:23 66:2,12,17 68:19 70:2,5 71:9, 13,23 73:15 77:1

**Board's** 10:21 47:2

**body** 58:7,9 71:22

**body-wise** 48:7

**book** 32:18 74:9

**booked** 26:11,14 27:2

**BOPC** 9:19 14:18

**bothers** 74:16

**bottom** 27:18

**Boulevard** 14:21 67:24

**Bowman** 68:13 73:13,14,16 76:20

**BPC** 60:15

**bravery** 12:7

**bricks** 48:13

**bring** 24:24 28:23 36:23 47:9 75:22

**bringing** 47:15 62:22

**brings** 67:4

**broader** 56:23

**broke** 48:8

**broken** 33:8

**Brooks** 4:3,4 10:20

**brothers** 69:15

**brought** 20:4 23:15 43:10 55:18 62:2 72:24 73:25 76:25

**brown** 4:5,6,22 5:6,19 15:9 17:21 18:11 35:16 36:15 47:24 49:25 51:22,24 60:8,18 62:6,20 68:5,12,17 70:4 71:11 73:11,13 76:9 77:11,17

**Brown's** 68:1

**Buckle** 46:17

**budget** 13:8,23 25:17,22,25 26:3,9,20 27:1,5,7,15 28:3,4, 7,12,18 30:12,13,16,18,21 36:12

**budgetary** 33:23

**budgeted** 28:14,16,22 32:7 65:11

**build** 60:2

**building** 32:8 33:22 34:16

**buildings** 34:4

**bulk** 26:13

**bulletproof** 30:4

**Burch** 4:7,8 12:24 15:19,22 18:3 21:16,19 22:13,16,19 23:3 32:15,17 33:10 34:14,22 35:7 46:10,12 49:8 59:24 60:18 62:6 63:14,16 64:10,15, 17 65:1,7,22,25 66:5

**Burch's** 35:9

**Burglary** 20:7

**Burton** 3:18

**Bush** 20:18

**business** 4:18 24:16 37:20 66:23 67:15,17

**busy** 4:16 69:25

**Butler** 8:18,19

**C**

**cab** 43:11

**cable** 3:12

**call** 60:6 64:1,12 65:20 66:14

**Callaway** 7:7

**called** 17:5 64:11,23 72:11

**calling** 68:2

**camera** 29:19 38:23,24 39:8, 13,22,23,24,25 40:12 44:18 46:18 49:10 53:14 54:2 74:8 76:4

**camera's** 27:12

**cameras** 14:4 24:15 25:4 36:19 37:5 38:21 39:5,19 40:1,8,9 47:7 49:12 52:3 53:14 54:9,15,17 58:9 74:19 75:10,11,17,24

**capital** 26:7 28:10 29:16 31:25 33:5

**Captain** 13:2 18:5,6,10

**captured** 23:11,25 58:6

**car** 48:8,12 58:8,23,24

**card** 15:7,9

**Cardia** 42:20

**Cards** 15:7

**care** 16:13 20:12

**carjack** 52:8

**carjacked** 24:6,11 37:22 40:15 42:19 52:9

**carjackings** 38:16

**Carla** 8:3

**carried** 5:2,10 18:2,16 77:18

**cars** 53:21

**Carter** 3:14

**case** 22:6 24:7 39:7 48:20 51:13 55:23 66:18 74:3

**cases** 9:21 38:21 63:22

**casino** 40:9,10

**Catholic** 8:8

**caught** 15:16

**cautious** 23:19

**celebrating** 10:14

**cell** 15:12

**center** 20:25 21:3

**certificates** 70:21

**CFO** 13:10,21

**chain** 33:25

**chair** 3:8 4:6,19 5:13,19 17:21 18:7 21:16 22:21 23:4,13 24:9 31:23 32:6,15 33:16 35:16 36:17 46:10 47:20 50:2 51:18, 22 52:13 54:4,14 55:15 63:6, 14 65:10 66:13 68:5,9 70:7 72:6 75:3 76:9

**Chair's** 13:5

**Chairman** 16:12,16 62:20

**chairman's** 8:21

**challenge** 18:22

**change** 59:22,23 72:19

**changing** 72:17

**channel** 3:12

**chaplain** 3:20,21,23 70:8,10

**Chappie** 12:16

**Chapter** 9:12

**characterized** 53:11 75:7

**charges** 28:19

**Charles** 22:10

**Charter** 9:11

**check** 73:23

**cheekbone** 50:21

**Chicago** 48:22 59:9 60:22

**chief** 7:10,13,17 9:3 10:7 13:1,

9 14:9,24 19:8,16,17 21:19, 24,25 22:10 24:4 33:14 36:21 38:4,8 46:13,14 48:3 54:7 60:14 64:13,18 66:20,24 74:21 75:2

**chief's** 15:2

**Chiefs** 7:14

**children** 23:19

**choice** 37:24,25

**Christ** 17:7

**Christmas** 9:7

**Christopher** 20:18

**Church** 8:8 14:20 15:25 67:23

**Cincinnati** 6:18,19

**cities** 40:3,8 54:25

**citizen** 8:24 9:16,21 10:5 56:7 57:10 60:16 64:3,5,23 65:21 66:22

**citizen's** 8:1 14:25 37:15 41:17 48:5 58:15

**citizens** 9:15,18 17:12 34:19 37:14 47:11 48:19 49:5,20 57:24 64:1 71:18

**city** 7:14 9:11 11:2 14:7 17:12 31:18 34:4 37:18 40:6,19 54:21 55:20,21 56:2,16,23 60:22,24 61:10,14 67:3 70:1 72:9 74:18 75:6

**city-wide** 7:24 8:1 70:6

**civic** 7:22 10:16 16:7

**civil** 9:17 40:13 44:20

**civilian** 9:13,15 10:4,12,15 71:17

**clarification** 75:22

**clarify** 74:22

**clarity** 63:20

**class** 60:2

**clear** 16:17 35:10 43:5 76:6

**Clergy** 16:14  
**close** 6:20 26:18 28:23 33:7  
38:21 56:10 70:11 74:22  
76:13  
**closed** 57:25  
**closure** 22:14 38:18  
**co-chair** 36:13  
**co-sign** 47:23  
**coat** 69:22  
**Coleman** 12:3,18,19  
**collaboratively** 39:13  
**college** 42:21  
**Collingwood** 43:11  
**Colture** 7:6  
**column** 30:19  
**combat** 48:25  
**combined** 38:15  
**comfortable** 57:8  
**commander** 13:3 18:5,9,16,18  
19:2 69:11  
**commanders** 58:10  
**commend** 22:20  
**comment** 21:17 46:12 50:3  
52:1 68:24 69:19 71:16  
**commenting** 74:23  
**comments** 15:6,10 19:11  
35:20,21 50:4 54:6 57:23  
76:11  
**commission** 30:12  
**commissioner** 3:5,7,14,18,23  
4:1,3,5,7,9,11,13,14,21,22,23  
5:1,5,6,7,10 6:1,3,13,16,19  
7:8,20 8:2,6,9,16,19 10:19  
11:11,23,24 12:19,23 13:13,  
20,24 14:2 15:18,22 17:21,23,  
24 18:2,3,8,11,12,15 19:1,10,  
12,14 21:14,16,18,19 22:13,  
16,19 23:3,4,5,6,15 24:2,21,  
25 25:6,7,8,9,13,15,16 30:8,9,

10,11,15,24 31:2,7,13,22,23,  
24,25 32:13,15,16,17 33:10  
34:14,22 35:3,7,8,11,13,14,  
16,18,23 36:1,3,8,9,11,13,15,  
18,25 40:20,23 41:1 46:4,10,  
11,12 47:20,21,22,24 49:7,21,  
22,23 51:14,21,22,23,24 52:1  
54:4,5,6,11 55:1,3,14,16  
56:25 57:18 59:24,25 60:8  
62:19,20 63:5,6,11,14,15,16  
64:10,15,17 65:1,4,7,22,25  
66:5,7,9 67:14,17,19 68:9,11,  
15 69:11 70:24 71:4,7,10,15,  
20,25 72:3,5 75:2 76:3,10  
77:6,10,12,13,14,16,17,18  
**commissioners** 4:15 6:11,22  
9:6,13 10:3 13:5,16 16:9  
17:11,20 19:10 30:8 46:6,8  
55:5,11 60:18 61:9 62:6,7,10,  
19 63:5 74:2 75:23  
**commissioners'** 69:21  
**commit** 40:12 75:16 76:1  
**commits** 75:8  
**committed** 23:24 52:20  
**committee** 11:13 16:13 29:24  
66:10  
**common** 16:13 50:19 54:25  
**communicating** 47:13  
**communication** 67:2  
**communications** 6:9 66:16,19  
67:25  
**communities** 54:15  
**community** 5:23 8:1 9:10,17  
10:1 12:23 14:14,15,16 16:7,  
15 17:18 38:11 39:14 47:19  
49:11 55:11,12 67:21 70:7,11  
75:17  
**community-based** 17:5  
**companion** 55:19 56:19  
**compassion** 72:10  
**compensations** 27:20  
**complaining** 57:24

**complaint** 14:25 58:20,25  
60:4,16 64:2,23  
**complaints** 9:21 10:6 25:9  
57:10,25 58:15,21  
**complete** 67:9  
**completed** 29:7,25 33:19,20  
34:6,8  
**completing** 61:25  
**completion** 33:22  
**compliance** 76:17  
**complies** 43:25  
**comply** 44:2,3  
**comporting** 44:5  
**comprehensive** 10:20 34:1,5  
**Compstat** 33:17  
**computer** 30:4  
**concept** 45:20  
**conception** 46:19  
**concern** 8:23,24 24:4 25:7  
50:16,17 52:1 72:8  
**concerned** 32:21 35:11 65:9  
**concerns** 14:16 46:9 55:9  
**concluded** 62:5 77:20  
**condition** 61:16  
**condolences** 17:19  
**conduct** 39:6  
**conducted** 60:15  
**conducting** 3:9  
**conference** 3:16 10:13,17  
**confidante** 17:8  
**confinements** 61:16  
**Congratulations** 19:12  
**consent** 60:10,17,20,22 61:3,  
7,8,11 62:2,10  
**consequence** 54:8  
**consideration** 10:10

**consist** 29:12  
**consistent** 57:14 58:2  
**constant** 7:15  
**constitutional** 41:13  
**constructed** 55:21  
**constructing** 56:24  
**construction** 56:7  
**contact** 7:15  
**context** 10:23 12:20  
**continually** 41:9  
**continue** 10:11 22:22 41:13  
 46:5 60:2 62:16 69:16  
**continued** 60:21  
**continues** 20:12  
**continuing** 19:23  
**contractual** 27:20 28:2  
**contribution** 10:24  
**control** 9:14 15:14 29:7 32:8  
**conversation** 38:22 46:24  
**conveyance** 61:22  
**cop** 40:21  
**copy** 13:3 41:3 47:25 55:6  
**Corps** 12:11 70:8  
**correct** 22:13 76:17  
**corrective** 59:16  
**correctly** 56:9  
**correspondence** 23:18  
**cost** 61:10  
**Council** 11:2,8,13 16:11 31:18  
 55:22 56:2,23  
**counsel** 26:15 76:14  
**country** 16:3 40:5 59:3  
**county** 29:10 51:17 69:21  
**couple** 7:22 20:18 36:23  
**courageous** 17:16

**court** 5:17 60:22 61:12  
**cover** 32:25  
**covered** 8:20  
**Craig** 7:10,13 13:2 19:17  
 21:25 46:14 66:20  
**crazy** 72:15  
**create** 42:7  
**created** 16:4 29:6,20 30:1  
**creates** 56:11  
**creating** 47:18  
**crime** 15:3 19:5,20 23:25  
 40:13 43:13,18 52:20 53:4  
 75:8,10,16  
**crimes** 38:15 39:3,4 40:18  
**criminal** 37:18 38:25 41:25  
 42:1  
**criminality** 52:12  
**criminals** 23:8,10,24 48:21  
 49:3  
**critical** 10:1 15:3  
**Cromwell** 7:5 60:9,12 62:22,  
 23 63:17  
**CSC** 20:6  
**Cum** 17:1  
**current** 29:15  
**cussed** 64:24  
**custody** 22:25 43:10,13  
**customarily** 5:14  
**cutting** 20:25 23:21 48:16

---

**D**

---

**DABO** 11:20 15:20  
**daily** 45:8 52:7  
**Danielle** 12:16  
**dark** 34:17  
**Darryl** 4:5

**data** 38:12,13,18 43:19 54:22  
**database** 74:10  
**date** 10:23 31:14 46:5 59:22,  
 23 64:12 71:1  
**Davis** 4:1,2,21 5:5 8:16 11:23  
 12:16 17:23 25:7,9,15 30:9,  
 11,15,24 31:2,7,13 35:11  
 36:8,13 40:20,23 41:1 49:21,  
 23 51:14,21 65:4 68:9,15  
 77:10  
**day** 11:11 12:2 67:10 69:14,16  
**day-to-day** 45:9  
**days** 19:22 44:8  
**DBH** 29:21  
**DC** 22:4,10,14,18 32:5 70:9  
**de-escalation** 61:20  
**deal** 71:25  
**dealers** 48:23  
**decided** 59:14  
**decision** 37:20 42:22  
**decisions** 43:6 54:21  
**decrease** 28:2  
**decree** 60:10,17,22 61:3,7,8,  
 11 62:2,10  
**decrees** 60:20  
**dedication** 17:14  
**defeating** 12:8  
**defending** 43:14  
**degree** 17:2 49:17  
**deleted** 44:7  
**deliver** 41:13  
**Delores** 68:7  
**demeanor** 58:1,2,3  
**department** 8:4 9:1,14 10:6  
 13:9 14:11,13 15:4 17:13  
 18:20 21:6,21 25:24 29:2,3,9,  
 16,17 32:9 33:7 38:9 39:6  
 43:10 48:1 49:5 51:1 54:23

56:17 57:11 59:3,16 60:24  
61:5,17,18 62:3,4 66:24 77:5

**department's** 14:17 29:7

**departments** 22:20 60:3,20

**deploy** 37:11

**Deployment** 37:6 41:6,9

**Deputy** 21:9 22:10

**Derrick** 3:20

**design** 6:10 39:22

**desk** 64:23 65:12,17,20

**destroyed** 74:5

**detail** 26:5,6 34:12

**detailed** 27:10 62:13

**details** 31:4,6 33:1

**detention** 61:22

**determinations** 50:12 67:4

**determine** 52:23

**detroit** 3:1 8:8 9:11 10:2,14  
11:2,17 12:4,6,17 13:8 14:21  
16:1,11,23 17:1,11,12,13,18,  
20 21:10,20,24 25:24 27:21  
43:9 48:1 49:4 51:1 55:21  
56:2 59:2 60:17 61:10,18  
63:24 71:18

**Detroiter** 8:10 71:14 76:19

**devices** 63:24 64:21

**Dewaelsche** 3:14

**differ** 71:15

**difference** 73:8

**differences** 26:23

**digital** 74:10

**diligence** 49:19

**dime** 72:20

**dinner** 10:21

**direct** 44:14

**direction** 19:24 59:4

**directive** 14:3,9,12,14 36:19  
55:18 56:17

**disability** 20:14 24:13

**disabled** 24:11

**discriminatory** 9:23

**discuss** 36:7

**discussion** 4:24 5:8 17:25  
18:13 55:4 60:17 61:8 77:14

**disposition** 59:17

**district** 3:8 4:2,6,8 8:3,4 16:20

**Divinity** 17:2

**Doctorate** 17:2,3

**documentation** 62:5

**dog** 59:2,8,9

**dogs** 59:7

**dollars** 33:23 34:1 61:11 65:11

**donations** 21:3

**Donna** 5:17

**doors** 29:22

**double** 27:22

**DPD** 10:4 13:8,9 15:14 20:25  
25:18 39:18 48:4 49:19 58:11  
60:3 67:8 70:1

**DPSH** 21:12

**drag** 22:11

**drinking** 45:14

**drive** 45:17

**driver** 43:11 45:11

**driver's** 45:10,21

**drivers** 45:10,15

**driving** 45:18

**drowning** 73:4

**drug** 48:23

**due** 26:22 27:18 28:8,24 49:19

**Duggan** 14:6 49:5

**duty** 20:14

---

**E**

---

**earlier** 43:15 74:23 75:23

**early** 60:14 69:14

**echo** 19:14 38:7

**educated** 16:23

**effect** 27:21

**effective** 9:25 61:4

**efforts** 11:20

**Eighth** 63:9

**elder** 69:8

**elected** 7:21 16:18

**electric** 29:7

**Electronic** 58:5

**element** 37:18

**Eleven** 33:15,17 35:9

**Eleventh** 33:18

**eligible** 27:22

**eliminate** 9:22 61:14

**eliminating** 61:1

**Elizabeth** 4:3 10:20

**eluded** 48:15

**email** 23:25

**embrace** 55:22

**embraces** 55:22

**emergency** 15:15

**emphasis** 61:20

**emphasized** 49:7

**emphatically** 44:10

**employers** 56:15

**empowered** 9:13

**end** 13:5 15:5 39:17 45:6  
76:10



**endeavors** 37:19  
**ended** 11:19  
**ending** 26:1  
**enemy** 12:8  
**enforce** 44:15,19 54:15,17  
**enforceable** 60:23  
**enforcement** 9:16 10:12,16  
 22:22 41:23 44:23 45:23  
 54:19,20 75:24,25 76:5  
**enforcing** 54:24  
**engage** 44:22  
**enjoy** 69:16  
**enlightenment** 55:10  
**ensure** 41:11  
**enter** 11:6  
**entertain** 4:19 18:7 71:1  
**entire** 23:22  
**entrepreneur** 66:22  
**entry** 32:10  
**environment** 47:18 53:23  
**equipment** 24:12 28:10 29:14,  
 18 30:5 31:2,4,8,10,12 32:2  
 56:9  
**Equitable** 29:3  
**Eric** 8:7 71:14 76:21  
**erroneous** 44:17  
**escalated** 61:11  
**escape** 20:22  
**ESP** 30:2  
**essence** 67:2  
**establishes** 60:23  
**esteemed** 7:11  
**Europe** 12:14  
**Eva** 3:14  
**evaluate** 67:4

**evenings** 23:12  
**event** 59:4  
**events** 12:20 20:24  
**eventual** 48:25  
**everyday** 48:19  
**everyone's** 47:12  
**evidence** 39:1,2 58:5 64:2  
**evident** 47:14  
**evolves** 40:11  
**examined** 66:24  
**examples** 41:24  
**excited** 18:22,23  
**Excuse** 55:15  
**excused** 3:17,19  
**executive** 5:23 11:12  
**exist** 10:3  
**existence** 70:16  
**expansion** 26:4 29:20 74:18  
**expect** 27:25 28:14,16,17,20,  
 25 42:2  
**expected** 28:11,23  
**expedite** 31:19  
**expenditure** 26:5,19  
**expenditures** 26:18 27:4,6,19  
 29:11  
**expenses** 28:11  
**experience** 6:23 18:21  
**experts** 61:3,5  
**explain** 32:3  
**explanation** 62:9  
**express** 8:22  
**extend** 17:19 62:12  
**extent** 46:1  
**exterior** 34:16  
**external** 66:16

**extremely** 58:14

---

**F**

---

**face** 49:13 50:18,19 74:20  
 75:6,12,13  
**Facebook** 50:5,6  
**faced** 48:17  
**faces** 74:12  
**facetious** 51:9 52:2  
**facial** 14:4 36:20 44:23 45:3,5  
 48:2 49:10,12,24 50:3,13  
 51:3,6 52:10,14,16,23 53:1,25  
 54:1 56:5 72:8,19 74:6 75:5  
 76:8  
**facilities** 29:13,21 33:25 35:6  
**facility** 20:12 21:5 30:6 34:5  
**facing** 15:3  
**fact** 14:18 20:1 22:4 35:4  
 39:22 47:10 48:3,15 49:6 50:3  
 51:7,11 52:15 53:16 54:14  
 63:7 75:8,13,25  
**facts** 10:22,23 22:23  
**failure** 45:17  
**fair** 61:25  
**Fairness** 16:16  
**Faith** 68:6,17,18,20 70:3  
**faithfully** 16:19  
**fall** 56:21,22  
**fallen** 8:23 9:4 21:11  
**falling** 66:4  
**false** 49:24 50:15 51:1  
**familiar** 11:8 22:7,8 50:5  
**family** 17:19  
**famous** 12:15  
**Fantasy** 65:3  
**fatally** 43:12

**Father's** 69:14  
**fathers** 69:15  
**favor** 4:24 5:8 17:25 18:13 77:16  
**fax** 60:7  
**Faye** 5:24 35:19 36:5  
**fear** 49:16  
**fear-mongers** 47:17  
**fearmongers** 72:9  
**federal** 44:4 51:16 72:10,13,16  
**feel** 6:21 46:14 49:4,5,19  
**feeling** 57:8  
**fell** 38:15,16  
**figure** 58:7  
**file** 60:4  
**filed** 14:25  
**files** 58:25  
**fill-in** 7:10  
**finally** 21:8 74:6  
**Finance** 67:8  
**financial** 13:10  
**financing** 47:3  
**find** 23:25 32:19 54:1 73:5  
**finish** 34:7  
**fire** 46:13  
**fiscal** 29:8,23 31:14,15  
**Fitness** 21:4  
**Fitzgerald** 22:10,14,18  
**fixed** 66:6  
**flagging** 53:24  
**flat** 28:6,11,15,20  
**fleet** 29:14,24  
**flew** 12:13  
**floor** 29:21

**focus** 12:7 38:9 43:2,22 53:15 55:23 56:17  
**focused** 61:17  
**folks** 23:22 48:20 54:1  
**follow** 39:18 40:1 66:2 75:4,6  
**footage** 39:2,13 75:19  
**force** 9:23 12:12 61:16,19  
**forced** 23:9  
**forces** 12:8  
**forefront** 9:20  
**forehead** 50:21  
**foremost** 41:16,22  
**forfeiture** 26:7 29:2,9,10  
**form** 32:21  
**Fort** 12:6  
**fortunate** 18:21  
**forty-two** 58:1  
**forum** 55:13  
**forward** 6:21 18:25 36:16 42:21 51:16 55:4,8,12 69:17 70:1 77:7  
**Foundation** 16:17 21:4  
**founding** 15:20  
**fourteen** 19:2  
**fourth** 26:14,15,16,25 57:14  
**free** 6:21  
**freeway** 43:15,16  
**freeways** 46:16  
**fringe** 29:13  
**front** 8:15 48:9,12 64:23 68:10,14  
**full** 20:13  
**Fund** 16:15  
**Fundamental** 16:16  
**funding** 30:4

**funds** 29:20 30:2 31:13 32:1  
**future** 30:12 31:19  
**FYI** 73:17

---

**G**

---

**game** 66:21  
**Garbarino** 21:9  
**garner** 75:20  
**Garza** 3:14  
**gas** 74:8  
**gate** 32:11  
**gather** 42:8  
**gave** 24:7  
**general** 6:24 41:8  
**gentleman** 23:21 42:19 48:16  
**gentleman's** 76:19  
**girlfriends** 48:10  
**girls** 48:11  
**give** 10:23 37:18 53:1 59:19 62:9 63:18,19 68:3 70:21  
**giving** 38:6 54:8  
**glad** 50:2 51:25  
**glasses** 42:20,23 52:21  
**God** 16:2,4  
**godmother** 43:18  
**good** 3:5,6 4:3,5,7,9 7:2,11,12 8:9 13:15,17 19:18,19 25:20 27:7 38:3 41:4 53:9 57:3,5 58:14 63:1 68:18,19,23 70:5 71:13  
**goodness** 43:8  
**gospel** 16:3  
**government** 3:12  
**graduated** 16:25 42:21  
**graduating** 16:24  
**grandbaby's** 48:9



**grandfather** 11:3  
**grant** 31:13,17  
**Grants** 29:23  
**graphic** 6:10  
**grass** 23:22 48:17  
**great** 6:23 24:7,25 25:2 37:17  
53:13 70:9 71:25  
**greater** 17:18  
**greatly** 17:17  
**Greektown** 24:20  
**Green** 19:7 24:7,15 74:8,19  
**Greenfield** 25:10  
**Griffie** 3:15  
**Griffin** 12:23 15:19,23,24 16:5,  
6,18,23 17:15  
**grounded** 54:12  
**group** 73:4  
**guaranteed** 70:12  
**guess** 8:20 11:25 50:19 76:14  
**gun** 40:15  
**gunshot** 20:17  
**guy** 52:8  
**guys** 68:13

---

**H**

---

**haphazardly** 69:23  
**happen** 22:4 52:19,20 70:12  
**happened** 21:25 22:12 23:11  
24:6,13  
**happening** 53:16,21  
**happy** 6:8 21:5 30:22 33:18  
57:21 69:14  
**hard** 20:3 43:9 47:25 55:6  
68:22 69:17,20,24  
**harm** 23:23  
**harped** 40:21

**Harris** 70:17  
**hated** 73:9  
**Hayes** 3:20,21 69:11  
**headquarters** 9:8 67:21  
**hear** 14:16 49:8 56:20 57:21  
66:3 69:3  
**heard** 22:16 45:4 59:13  
**hearing** 14:18,19 46:5 55:25  
56:21 74:25  
**Heart** 8:7  
**helped** 11:6  
**helping** 63:1  
**Hennessy** 65:3,4  
**hey** 37:23  
**Hicks** 4:11,13 5:11,13 6:1  
55:15,17 66:11,13 76:14  
**high** 16:25 19:25 25:1 57:16  
**higher** 27:16  
**Highland** 21:21,23 22:12,16  
**highlight** 24:5 25:3  
**hire** 28:1  
**historic** 10:22 12:5,20  
**history** 10:23 11:12 12:3,4  
**hit** 51:3 52:10  
**hits** 49:24 50:16 51:1 56:5,9  
**hoc** 66:10  
**hold** 15:11 76:23,25 77:1,5  
**holder** 74:1  
**holiday** 9:7  
**Holley** 3:18  
**Holt** 4:9 18:8 19:12 23:4,6,15  
31:23,25 32:13 47:20,22 54:4,  
6,11 55:1,14 63:6,11 72:5  
76:3 77:13  
**Holt's** 52:1  
**home** 6:20 20:14,17,19,22

23:9 48:8,9  
**homicide** 19:23 20:4,6 38:17  
**homicides** 38:15  
**honor** 21:11 41:17 70:17,19  
**honorable** 13:15 25:20  
**Honorary** 17:3  
**honoring** 12:22 15:22  
**hope** 34:10 68:2 69:15  
**hoping** 37:24  
**Horace** 11:3,5,12,15,18,21  
15:21  
**horrible** 72:14,17  
**host** 10:12 59:4  
**house** 8:10 48:12  
**housing** 72:11  
**Houston** 55:1 76:1  
**hover** 50:7  
**HR** 5:25  
**Humane** 59:5  
**Humanities** 17:4

---

**I**

---

**ICE** 72:11  
**identify** 39:14 40:17  
**identifying** 61:13  
**II** 12:9,15  
**illustrate** 38:12,19  
**images** 39:2,15 44:7  
**immediately** 5:18 59:19  
**immigrants** 72:10  
**immigration** 44:22  
**impacted** 20:1  
**implement** 60:25  
**implemented** 61:18

**importance** 10:23  
**important** 8:25 10:9 16:8  
 44:23 45:23 55:7,17  
**importantly** 20:2 37:14  
**improve** 41:17 61:2,23 62:16  
**improvements** 33:14 37:5  
**improves** 38:11  
**improving** 37:15 38:8  
**inappropriate** 53:2 72:1  
**incident** 19:25 20:21 22:1,8,  
 11,23 23:1,10,11 24:10,13  
**incidents** 19:25  
**include** 5:14 12:16 15:14  
 30:22 59:15  
**included** 13:4 32:21 60:17  
 61:12  
**including** 16:7 29:22 61:9  
**income** 28:13  
**incoming** 66:16  
**increase** 28:24,25 38:23 39:10  
 57:7,9,12  
**increases** 38:24,25  
**increasing** 10:1  
**indebted** 11:21  
**independent** 53:8  
**Indicating** 27:11 60:5 68:16  
**indicator** 73:22  
**individual** 9:21 12:13 61:22  
**individuals** 10:17 74:17  
**industry** 11:7  
**infants** 72:11  
**information** 9:4 10:10 22:2,15,  
 24 23:2,14 24:8 31:8,20 35:2  
 41:12 43:19 44:15 45:1,6,21  
 47:2 51:19,20 52:5 54:16  
 59:15 60:9 62:13,22,24 63:1,  
 18 71:1,2 75:20

**informative** 55:4  
**infraction** 40:13 44:20 76:1,2  
 77:3  
**infrastructure** 65:14  
**infringe** 47:11 65:19  
**initiative** 37:16  
**initiatives** 29:16  
**injure** 21:22  
**injured** 8:23 9:2,4 20:10,16  
**innocent** 37:22 47:11  
**insensitive** 57:23  
**inspections** 28:21  
**inspiration** 17:17  
**inspire** 62:17  
**inspired** 10:25  
**instance** 52:17 63:23  
**instances** 52:16 72:1  
**Institute** 17:2  
**insult** 23:20 48:14  
**insults** 72:6  
**insurance** 58:24  
**integral** 19:5  
**integrate** 14:10  
**integrity** 59:25  
**intel** 19:5 43:18  
**intelligence** 42:7  
**intention** 54:16,23  
**interact** 6:22 40:6  
**interaction** 6:21  
**interested** 66:23 73:18 74:25  
**interior's** 33:19  
**intern** 6:4  
**internally** 44:7  
**international** 11:14

**interrupt** 42:15  
**intersection** 74:19  
**intervention** 63:9  
**intoxicants** 45:14  
**intoxicated** 45:19  
**intricate** 19:5  
**introduce** 5:11,21 6:4 7:16,23  
 13:13 25:18 36:4  
**introduction** 8:20 13:25  
**introductions** 3:24 5:14  
**invaded** 23:8,22  
**invasion** 48:24  
**invest** 29:18  
**investigate** 10:5  
**investigating** 9:20 41:25  
 61:24  
**investigation** 41:25 42:4 44:8  
 45:2 62:4  
**investigations** 39:1 61:25  
**investigator** 7:4,5,6,7 14:24  
 60:9,12,14 62:22 63:17  
**investigators** 38:21 39:1  
 63:21,25 64:6  
**investing** 33:2  
**investment** 65:14  
**invitation** 21:6  
**invite** 3:20 10:18  
**inviting** 10:16  
**invocation** 3:21,22  
**Iowa** 59:9  
**issue** 35:15 53:17 56:13 59:1,  
 2 72:24 73:2  
**issues** 15:3 36:6 37:10 52:12  
 55:24 56:3 58:2,4 73:16 77:3  
**item** 5:3 8:21 18:4 19:16 26:15  
 36:18 46:7 57:1 66:11 67:7

items 10:9 12:21 66:14,15,18  
67:12

**J**

**Jack** 65:4  
**James** 7:10 12:17 13:2 51:5  
**jaywalker** 47:16  
**Jefferson** 12:6  
**Jermaine** 5:22  
**Jesus** 17:7  
**Jewish** 73:4,7  
**Jim** 3:18  
**job** 68:25  
**John** 14:20 67:23  
**Johnson** 5:24 20:11 31:15  
35:19,22,25 36:2,5,10 69:14  
**join** 10:17  
**joining** 3:11  
**Jose** 59:6  
**Joseph** 21:10  
**journalism** 6:11  
**journalist** 12:3  
**Jr** 12:16  
**July** 10:15 29:4  
**June** 14:15,20 21:1,8,12 59:22  
67:20,22  
**junior** 11:23,25  
**juries** 59:10  
**jury** 59:10  
**justice** 16:10 20:5 29:3 47:15  
60:24 61:17 62:4  
**justified** 9:15

**K**

**Kara** 13:2

**Kari** 18:10  
**keeping** 44:5  
**Ken** 12:3  
**Khalid** 6:6  
**kick** 57:22  
**killed** 43:21  
**kind** 32:23 37:9 41:7 42:16  
58:18,19 65:9  
**kinds** 23:18 56:15  
**Kisselburg** 20:13  
**knowing** 24:17 50:16  
**knowledge** 69:3  
**knowledgeable** 46:6

**L**

**labeled** 73:21  
**labor** 11:5,13  
**lack** 72:9  
**lady** 8:15 16:4 68:16  
**Larceny** 20:7  
**large** 33:3 48:13  
**largely** 56:20  
**lastly** 44:5  
**late** 11:3 12:17 15:21  
**Laude** 17:1  
**launch** 21:11  
**law** 9:16 10:12,16 22:22 29:15  
41:23 44:4 45:23 54:13  
**laws** 44:16,19 48:19 54:15,17  
72:16  
**layers** 50:17  
**leader** 11:6  
**leaders** 7:22  
**leadership** 11:8,16  
**learning** 6:10

**leave** 69:19 75:15  
**left** 43:4 75:9,21  
**leg** 73:6  
**legacy** 11:16  
**legal** 75:25  
**legendary** 11:25  
**letters** 31:17  
**letting** 70:3  
**level** 50:1 76:5  
**leverage** 42:13 47:10  
**leveraged** 45:23  
**leveraging** 24:23  
**library** 34:7  
**license** 43:19 45:10,15,21  
**licenses** 28:20  
**Lieutenant** 58:14  
**life** 10:2 12:22 17:9 39:4  
**lifelong** 8:9 71:14 76:19  
**light** 14:4 19:7 24:7,15 40:2,3,  
4,14 43:1 74:8,19  
**Light-mount** 36:19  
**lighting** 34:25 54:21  
**lines** 64:25  
**Lisa** 3:14  
**list** 31:11 65:6 74:14  
**listed** 66:14,15  
**listing** 9:2  
**litigation** 44:8  
**live** 37:17 45:3,4  
**lively** 55:4  
**lives** 17:8 73:9  
**local** 29:9 44:4 72:13  
**located** 14:21 15:7,25 32:20  
60:5  
**location** 39:8

**locker** 33:19  
**Logan** 21:24  
**logic** 43:14  
**long** 11:16  
**long-term** 20:12  
**lost** 65:14  
**lot** 6:24 18:24 19:7 21:2,3  
 24:11 32:22 33:20 34:18  
 39:24 63:2 64:25  
**love** 17:7,15  
**loved** 17:19  
**Lutheran** 14:20 67:23  
**Lydia** 8:18

---

**M**

---

**Mackinac** 3:15  
**made** 10:24 14:13 19:6 30:16,  
 25 42:22 47:23 56:4 72:18  
 73:7  
**Madrigal** 7:5  
**magna** 17:1  
**mail** 40:4  
**main** 11:19 38:24 65:21  
**maintenance** 29:14  
**major** 7:14 31:12 40:6 59:1  
 61:17  
**make** 4:17 10:7 15:1,6,16  
 19:11 35:5,20 37:20,25 42:15  
 43:6 46:4,17 47:16 49:19 51:2  
 53:17 54:21 55:5,6 59:14,24,  
 25 60:11 64:1 67:4 68:23  
 69:19 70:1,25 71:21  
**making** 13:10,22 46:19 50:12  
 65:17 76:16  
**makings** 5:14  
**male** 43:12 52:18,19  
**males** 52:18 53:1

**man** 6:23 12:1 16:2 24:6 52:22  
 73:4  
**management** 43:19 61:6  
**manager** 5:24 8:3 38:5  
**manages** 33:25  
**Manila** 70:17  
**manner** 31:21 48:1 61:13 62:1  
**manual** 74:14  
**March** 26:1 27:3,19 29:4 30:21  
 33:5 60:21  
**Mario** 20:17  
**married** 16:4  
**Mary** 11:3  
**matches** 74:12  
**Matt** 21:9  
**matter** 41:8 47:4 69:13  
**mayor** 10:7 12:17 14:6 49:5  
**Mayor's** 8:4  
**Mcallister** 7:2,3 15:1 57:2,3,6  
 62:15,21 63:3,4,7,10,13,16  
 64:9,16,19,22 65:5,8 66:5,8  
**Mccalister** 6:2  
**Mccullough** 68:13 71:12  
 73:11  
**meaning** 45:16  
**meant** 72:3  
**measurement** 50:20  
**media** 5:16 24:16 39:16  
**meet** 9:6,8,9 62:7  
**meeting** 3:9,11,13,17 7:3  
 10:21 14:14,15 15:5 39:12  
 47:1 57:2 60:19 67:20,21  
 70:11  
**meetings** 69:3 72:23 73:21  
**Melanie** 5:23  
**member** 16:10 21:7 39:18  
 44:21

**member's** 59:16  
**members** 5:20 12:15 15:20  
 41:13,19 44:2 58:11,15 60:15  
**men** 20:3 43:9  
**mentioned** 49:8 53:7 54:7  
 75:23  
**mentors** 11:19  
**Merrill** 34:7 60:6  
**messaging** 47:17  
**met** 35:25 36:1,2,9  
**Metropolitan** 16:20  
**Michael** 68:12  
**Michigan** 3:1 16:1 44:6 54:13  
 59:5 75:25 76:2  
**mics** 58:7  
**Mike** 14:6  
**military** 12:10  
**million** 26:10,11,20,21,22  
 27:1,2,4,6,15,16 28:14,15,17,  
 18,23,24 29:1,6,10,12 33:7  
 59:7  
**millions** 61:10  
**mind** 26:15  
**minded** 10:17  
**mindful** 23:20  
**mine** 15:12  
**Minister** 8:7  
**ministry** 16:1 17:16  
**minute** 72:19  
**minutes** 5:3 15:11 68:1 71:24  
**miscellaneous** 28:21  
**misconduct** 9:22 61:1,13,15,  
 24  
**misdemeanor** 53:23,24  
**misinformation** 39:24  
**misleading** 26:13

**misreport** 22:24  
**missed** 15:13 17:18  
**Missioner** 16:20  
**mode** 75:20  
**Moderator** 16:19  
**modify** 10:8  
**Mohamed** 6:6,18 7:1  
**moment** 46:25  
**money** 33:3  
**monitor** 10:6 48:23  
**monitoring** 42:1 49:17 57:18 76:15  
**month** 9:9,10 57:6,11 58:12 59:13 77:8  
**monthly** 14:23  
**Morales** 20:20  
**morning** 48:11,12 71:3  
**Moses** 7:6  
**motion** 4:19 5:1,10 18:2,7,8, 15 77:18  
**Motor** 20:8  
**motorist** 21:22  
**Mount** 14:4  
**move** 7:9 13:6 17:21 18:22 25:17 55:4,8,11 66:9  
**moved** 4:21,23 5:5,7 17:24 18:12 34:3 65:13 77:10,12  
**movements** 75:14  
**moving** 8:21 20:10,13 51:25 66:1 67:25 75:5  
**mugshots** 74:11  
**multiple** 50:18 51:11  
**municipal** 28:13  
**Museum** 12:5  
**Mutual** 9:25

**N**

**NAACP** 11:19,20 16:14  
**NACO** 10:11,21 62:25 63:2  
**named** 11:12,14  
**narrative** 47:6,9  
**narrow** 74:13  
**nation** 72:18  
**national** 10:11,12 12:5  
**Nazarko** 13:12,15,18,19,21 14:1 25:20,23 27:14 30:13,17 31:1,4,11,22 32:5 33:1 36:17  
**nearby** 39:8  
**necessarily** 31:9 52:15 66:17  
**needed** 29:18 32:2 44:8 61:14  
**Negro** 11:13  
**neighborhood** 8:4 23:6,17 48:16 69:6  
**neighborhoods** 69:4  
**neighbors** 23:7  
**Neil** 37:1 38:5  
**Nevers** 13:11,18 25:23  
**newspaper** 73:3  
**nexus** 37:16  
**Nichols** 7:6  
**night** 24:19  
**noncriminal** 10:5 44:16,19  
**nonfatal** 38:16  
**nonpolice** 54:20  
**normal** 45:9  
**North** 12:14  
**Northern** 16:24  
**Northwest** 14:21  
**nose** 49:14 50:20  
**note** 12:2 35:5 77:6

**O**

**noted** 12:3  
**notes** 26:5,6 27:17  
**noticed** 72:21  
**notification** 15:13  
**notion** 54:12  
**November** 27:21,23  
**number** 19:25 20:2,4 26:13,17 27:7 28:14 33:14,16 35:9 60:25 65:21 70:14,15  
**numbers** 20:1,5 27:8 57:14 63:11  
**Oakland** 14:21  
**Oakman** 67:23  
**objective** 48:1,4 49:20 62:1  
**obtained** 15:8  
**obvious** 41:23  
**occasions** 31:16  
**occupational** 20:14  
**occur** 42:2,3  
**occurred** 24:10  
**occurring** 42:3  
**occurs** 39:3  
**OCI** 7:9 14:25 15:1 34:10 57:1 62:13,25  
**offender** 43:20  
**offenders** 47:15 54:18,24 74:11  
**offenses** 20:8  
**offensive** 57:17,20 72:24,25 73:2,8  
**office** 6:5 8:5 14:24 29:22 37:9 67:12 69:21  
**officer** 8:24 13:10 20:10,11, 13,16,20 21:9,22,24 22:17 23:1 57:21 64:3,24 76:1

**officers** 8:23 9:2,5 20:15,16  
21:11 24:19 27:21 39:10 58:8,  
12,21,23 59:1 65:20

**offices** 29:22

**officials** 7:21

**oftentimes** 75:17,18

**ongoing** 42:5 45:2

**online** 60:7

**open** 21:6 46:7 70:11

**opened** 12:5

**operated** 77:3

**operating** 28:5,6,9

**operation** 9:22 45:9

**operations** 10:6 29:23 38:6  
41:5

**opinion** 64:1

**opportunity** 14:11 18:19  
25:18,21 37:19 38:7 49:18  
53:13,22 62:7 68:4

**opposed** 5:1,10 18:15 47:16  
56:11,17

**oral** 67:25

**order** 10:17 46:2 47:4 60:23  
61:12

**ordered** 60:25 61:12

**ordinance** 55:21,22 56:2,16,  
23

**organization** 10:15

**organizations** 3:16 7:23 9:19  
16:7

**organized** 17:4

**originally** 67:2

**Orr** 68:7

**outcome** 24:1

**outlay** 33:6

**outline** 26:2 27:10

**overabundance** 25:12

**overkill** 49:1

**oversight** 9:13,16,19 10:4,12,  
15 61:5 71:17

**overtime** 27:18

**overwhelming** 74:20

---

**P**

---

**p.m.** 9:9,10 43:17 67:20,22

**package** 13:4

**packet** 67:9

**panel** 56:6

**parents** 72:12

**park** 21:21,23 22:12,17 49:16

**parked** 48:9 58:23

**parking** 33:20 34:18

**part** 11:16 14:7 22:14 32:7,22  
34:24,25 38:14 60:16 64:1  
73:18,22

**participate** 45:13,17

**participation** 10:19 76:12 77:7

**partners** 16:8 22:22

**parts** 8:25 38:19

**past** 16:12 19:21 20:18 73:20  
74:15

**Pastor** 15:25

**Pastoral** 16:12

**pastorate** 17:6

**Pastors** 16:11

**path** 75:9,19

**patrol** 18:23,24 19:3 39:6  
52:9,14 53:8,10,13 54:2 69:10

**patrols** 52:4

**pattern** 9:21 54:21

**patterns** 61:1,13

**payment** 29:6

**Payroll** 29:23

**PBT** 45:13,17

**peak** 57:15

**peaking** 58:21

**peaky** 58:19

**pedestrian** 44:19

**pending** 47:2

**people** 3:11 7:22 17:6,15 20:2,  
5 21:20,25 36:23 39:11 40:1,2  
43:23 45:7 46:17 47:19 49:9,  
25 50:1,18 51:11,13 57:8  
59:11 69:5,7 72:15 75:5 76:8

**percentage** 27:2

**period** 9:8 38:14

**permissive** 33:11

**permits** 28:21 62:8

**permitted** 29:15

**perpetrator** 20:21 24:17,20  
42:24 43:10

**perpetrators** 40:18

**person** 31:16 36:12 37:23  
42:25 43:1,2,4 50:10,14 51:4,  
11 52:20,21,23 53:4,5 57:20  
58:25 59:6 67:1 69:2,5 75:8,  
12,19

**person's** 43:8 49:13,14 50:7,  
8,9

**persons** 69:8

**pets** 59:11

**phone** 15:12 23:16 64:25  
65:18

**phones** 65:8,12,17

**Phonetic** 21:9

**photo** 24:8 25:1

**photos** 24:15,16 43:18

**physically** 48:7

**picking** 50:22,23

**picture** 45:20 50:6 74:1,8

**pictures** 24:18  
**piece** 53:7  
**pigmentation** 50:23  
**piled** 69:23  
**Pilgrim** 15:25 17:5  
**pin** 49:14  
**pinned** 20:18,20,21  
**place** 28:10 34:20 55:20 61:6  
 69:22 74:1 75:4  
**Plaisance** 34:7 60:6  
**plan** 30:1 40:11,20 60:23  
**Planet** 21:4  
**planning** 10:18 33:2 37:5,9  
 41:6,9  
**plans** 26:7  
**plate** 43:20  
**pleases** 36:22  
**Plymouth** 25:10  
**point** 10:9 27:9 36:12 42:6  
 43:25 49:14 51:10 52:6 61:11  
 72:21 74:15 76:7  
**points** 32:10 38:12  
**police** 3:7 4:1 6:11 7:18 8:1,14  
 9:6,8,12,14,22,23,24 10:1,3,7,  
 8 13:2,8 14:9 15:3 16:9 17:11,  
 13,20 18:20 21:4,20,22,24  
 25:24 27:21 29:23 33:7 39:5  
 43:9 48:1 49:4 51:1 54:18,23  
 55:11 56:17 58:12 59:1,8  
 60:20 61:4,18 62:3 66:23 67:5  
 70:7  
**policey** 42:16  
**policies** 41:10 44:3 62:3 77:4  
**policing** 9:25 41:14  
**policy** 3:15 5:24 10:8 37:4,7,  
 13 41:16,19 44:6,14 53:6  
 60:25 61:19 65:13  
**Polly** 7:3 15:1 57:2 68:23

**portion** 46:1  
**pose** 24:3  
**posed** 14:3  
**position** 63:21  
**positive** 26:21  
**possibility** 74:16  
**possibly** 69:25  
**posted** 73:20  
**posting** 73:24  
**potentially** 51:15  
**powerful** 16:2  
**Powerpoint** 67:7  
**practice** 9:23  
**practices** 41:11  
**prayers** 20:13  
**precinct** 8:14,18 14:22 23:7,  
 11 24:14 32:19,22 33:9,12,13,  
 18 35:10,12,15 57:12,13,15  
 63:9 64:7 65:8,12 67:23 70:9,  
 10,14,19,23  
**precincts** 32:10,11,24 33:3  
 34:2 63:24 64:7 65:13  
**precise** 49:13  
**preparation** 42:4  
**present** 14:13 21:5 25:25  
 59:15 60:10,18 62:11  
**presentation** 13:10,22 14:3,  
 11,23 25:23 36:24 46:1 47:24  
 49:6,18 59:24 67:7 68:22,24  
**presentations** 13:7  
**presented** 37:3 53:10,12 77:4  
**presents** 47:25  
**president** 7:25 11:2,14 16:13  
 23:17,24 70:6,23  
**presidents** 70:15  
**pressure** 24:22  
**pretty** 74:13

**previous** 26:24 31:16 50:4  
**print** 15:6  
**printed** 73:3  
**prior** 5:13 6:1 46:25 74:11  
 76:20  
**privacy** 37:15 41:17 47:12  
 48:5,20,25 49:2,7  
**privilege** 45:16 68:4 71:16,19,  
 21  
**privileges** 45:18  
**Pro** 11:2  
**probable** 42:10,12 58:22  
 61:21  
**problem** 41:2 56:11 59:6,12  
 74:7  
**problematic** 39:6  
**problems** 76:24,25  
**procedure** 57:25 58:2,4  
**procedures** 61:24  
**proceedings** 77:20  
**process** 10:18 19:6 50:18  
 55:19 56:19 65:16 67:3 68:3  
 74:23 75:4 76:15,17  
**profanity** 57:17,19  
**professional** 28:2 59:13  
**profile** 19:25  
**program** 11:7 17:5 29:4  
**progress** 19:6  
**prohibit** 56:16 61:22  
**project** 19:7 24:15 38:5  
**projected** 28:15,22  
**projection** 27:15 28:1,3  
**projections** 26:5,6  
**projects** 6:12 19:7  
**promise** 67:9  
**promote** 13:2



**promotion** 13:3,6  
**prone** 59:11  
**proper** 13:24 61:5  
**properly** 4:23 5:7 13:14 17:24 18:12  
**proposal** 66:20  
**proposed** 14:9  
**propped** 48:13  
**prostitution** 53:24  
**protect** 9:17 37:17  
**protecting** 37:14  
**protection** 8:24 26:4 66:21  
**proud** 18:20  
**prove** 45:18  
**provide** 3:20 9:3,13 10:4,22 28:8 30:11,16 31:11,15,17 32:8 34:11 35:2 39:2 40:21 41:12 45:1  
**provided** 45:22 62:5 65:5 66:21,25 68:23 70:25  
**providing** 5:16  
**PSA** 46:23 47:4  
**PSAS** 46:15,20  
**public** 9:24 14:18 15:5,10 16:10,24 37:15,16 41:18 46:7, 15,24 55:25 56:21 67:21 71:16 76:11  
**public's** 39:14  
**pulled** 45:9,12 73:4  
**pulling** 52:21  
**purchase** 30:1 31:3  
**purchased** 31:5,9,10,12  
**purchases** 29:25 30:2  
**purpose** 16:17 41:25  
**purposes** 41:23 44:9  
**purse** 69:22

**pursuers** 12:11  
**pursuit** 42:1  
**put** 15:15 32:12 33:21 44:16 45:5 48:23 56:7 72:14

---

**Q**

---

**Q&a** 77:2  
**quality** 10:2 39:3  
**quarter** 13:8,23 26:1,2,3,10, 14,15,17,20,25 29:12 33:4  
**quarters** 33:8  
**question** 24:3,4 33:12 40:20 46:10 49:21 50:3 51:14 52:14 56:10 63:18 76:22  
**questions** 21:13 25:6 26:8 30:7 46:2,9 62:18,25 63:2 67:11 75:1  
**quick** 74:13  
**Quinn** 5:15  
**quo** 58:14,18  
**quorum** 4:12,13

---

**R**

---

**racing** 22:11  
**rainy** 8:11  
**raise** 46:9  
**raised** 56:13  
**raises** 27:20  
**ramp** 34:20,23  
**ran** 40:14 42:25 43:1 70:18  
**random** 52:6  
**randomly** 40:1,2  
**rank** 13:3 18:5,9 58:11  
**ranked** 8:25  
**rate** 38:18  
**re-elected** 16:18

**read** 12:24  
**ready** 59:25 60:2  
**real** 74:17  
**reason** 23:15 45:11,12 46:18  
**reasonable** 42:9,11 44:24,25 61:23 74:13  
**reasons** 4:18  
**rebuild** 34:5  
**recall** 14:6  
**receive** 10:5 28:17 47:24  
**received** 17:3 29:3,10 31:14 55:2  
**receives** 9:1  
**receiving** 20:14  
**recent** 60:21  
**recently** 19:25 20:15 43:10  
**reckoned** 12:1  
**recognition** 14:4 36:20 44:24 45:3,5 48:2 49:12 50:4,13 51:3 52:10,15,16,23 53:1,25 54:1 56:5 72:8,19 74:6 75:5 76:8  
**recognitions** 49:25  
**recognize** 49:14  
**recommendation** 18:4,9  
**record** 5:15 12:25 60:13 65:15 68:20  
**recorded** 64:4 65:1,12,21,25  
**recorder** 64:12  
**recorders** 64:7  
**recording** 63:24 64:21 65:16, 18  
**records** 43:18  
**recovering** 20:17,19,22 23:1  
**reduction** 58:12  
**reference** 36:12 46:6 74:9



**referred** 66:20  
**reform** 60:24 61:4  
**reforms** 60:25 62:2  
**refuse** 45:13  
**regard** 56:18  
**regrets** 7:13  
**regulations** 39:21 72:14  
**related** 14:17 56:2  
**relates** 31:8 48:2 54:18 56:15 63:9  
**relations** 5:23 8:1,14 70:7  
**relationship** 60:3 67:5  
**released** 24:16 39:16  
**relevant** 45:1  
**religious** 16:6  
**remaining** 29:6  
**remarks** 9:3  
**remember** 76:19  
**remind** 10:10,24  
**reminded** 73:2  
**reminds** 69:24  
**remodeling** 29:21  
**remove** 51:1  
**renewal** 66:21  
**renovate** 33:3  
**renovating** 32:22  
**renovation** 32:25  
**renovations** 32:19  
**repairing** 34:4  
**repairs** 33:24  
**repeat** 66:15  
**report** 8:21 9:1 10:20 13:5 14:24 15:1,2 19:20 20:10 22:9 23:14 25:17,22,25 26:1 32:18 35:17 47:23 51:25 59:14,18 63:23 64:2 66:11

**reporter** 5:17  
**reporting** 25:13 57:7,8 67:12  
**reports** 66:10  
**represent** 3:8 18:20 27:6  
**representatives** 7:21,22  
**representing** 3:16 7:23  
**request** 13:1,3 14:12 31:25 34:18 55:7 60:8 66:25  
**requested** 12:24 31:16 32:2 60:1  
**requesting** 15:2  
**requests** 39:14  
**required** 61:20  
**requisition** 29:5,19 30:1  
**research** 12:4 37:6,7 41:6,9 61:2  
**reserve** 21:9  
**residents** 10:2 38:9  
**resolution** 12:22,24 15:22 70:25  
**RESOLVED** 17:11  
**resolving** 20:3  
**resonate** 48:4  
**resources** 29:18 53:16 67:6  
**respect** 9:25 41:19 46:22 68:2,3  
**respective** 3:16  
**respond** 25:14  
**responders** 39:9  
**responding** 39:9,10  
**response** 66:25 67:1,3,16,18 73:12 76:23 77:15  
**responses** 46:8  
**responsible** 11:16  
**rest** 7:14  
**result** 43:13 54:22

**Retention** 44:6  
**revenue** 26:4,6,10 28:13  
**revenues** 26:9,11,13,24 27:3,11 28:22  
**Reverend** 16:5  
**review** 13:7 14:10 37:3,4 61:21  
**reviewing** 9:20  
**revision** 61:19  
**revocation** 45:18  
**ribbon** 20:25  
**rights** 9:18 45:15 65:19  
**ringer** 15:15  
**risk** 61:6  
**risked** 73:9  
**rob** 40:15  
**robbed** 23:9 48:17  
**Robbery** 20:6  
**Robert** 5:19 15:8  
**rocks** 57:22  
**Rodriguez** 20:17  
**role** 55:11  
**Romel** 37:8  
**roof** 33:20  
**room** 26:8 33:19  
**roughly** 72:23  
**route** 43:3 75:10  
**row** 5:20  
**rude** 64:24  
**rules** 39:18,21  
**run** 21:8,10,11 40:2,3 52:15,18 53:1 70:1  
**running** 21:14 40:4,11  
**runs** 53:8

---

**S**

---

**Sacred** 8:7  
**sadly** 57:7,11  
**safe** 49:4 77:8  
**safety** 8:24 16:10 37:15,17  
 38:8,11,23,24,25 39:10 41:18  
 48:5 49:7 67:21  
**salaries** 29:13 30:19  
**salary** 27:14  
**sales** 28:19  
**San** 59:6  
**Sarge** 40:19 42:15 51:24  
**save** 73:9  
**savior** 17:8  
**scary** 49:15 74:20  
**scatter** 53:21  
**scene** 39:9,11 43:4 75:10,15  
**Schaefer** 25:11  
**schedule** 4:16 31:15 32:11  
 34:2,11  
**scheduled** 14:15,20 20:25  
 35:1  
**school** 16:24,25 21:2 48:10  
**Schoolcraft** 25:11  
**Scotty** 68:13 73:13  
**scout** 53:20  
**screen** 40:21  
**scrutiny** 72:1  
**search** 39:6  
**season** 72:22  
**secretary** 66:12  
**security** 29:19,22 32:2,3,7,9  
 34:24,25 65:11  
**select** 40:1,2  
**self-introduction** 7:17

**send** 53:16 60:7  
**sends** 7:13 23:17  
**senior** 6:7 7:5 11:25  
**seniority** 58:11  
**senseless** 43:13  
**sensitive** 59:11  
**sentence** 48:25  
**sentiment** 38:13  
**September** 10:13 19:3 70:18  
 71:6  
**Sergeant** 5:15 35:4 37:2,8  
 39:20 41:4  
**serve** 3:8  
**served** 15:24 16:6,19  
**service** 12:22 16:15 17:14  
 39:7 46:16 58:3 70:20,22  
**services** 5:16 28:2,5,6,9,19  
**Sesame** 43:17,22  
**session** 5:15 60:16  
**set** 6:9 12:20 37:12  
**setting** 11:7  
**SGT** 41:4 43:24 44:13 45:25  
**shabby** 32:23  
**share** 6:25 21:25 24:8  
**shared** 67:1  
**sharing** 6:9 29:4 51:19,20  
 56:14  
**She'll** 35:23  
**sheet** 22:4  
**Sheffield** 11:4,5,12,15,18,21  
 15:21  
**Sheffield's** 11:3  
**Shirley** 4:7 12:24 15:18  
**shirt** 73:1  
**shoes** 69:22  
**shooting** 43:15 59:1,7

**shootings** 38:16 61:10  
**short** 55:7 60:11 73:1  
**shot** 25:1 42:24 43:12,16 51:4  
 59:8,9  
**show** 59:5 63:8  
**shown** 11:2 72:9  
**shy** 8:17  
**sic** 15:15 42:16  
**side** 26:10,19 28:13 29:21,24  
**sides** 30:21  
**sidewalk** 34:18  
**Sidney** 12:23 15:19,23,24  
 17:14  
**sign** 43:1  
**signals** 54:9  
**significant** 20:24  
**similar** 50:10 53:9  
**simply** 66:13 67:12 73:25  
**sir** 7:24 24:9 25:8 30:10 32:17  
 34:14 36:22 41:15 43:24  
 44:13 46:4 49:22 51:23 55:16  
 62:15 71:10 76:7,18  
**sit** 73:1 77:2  
**sitting** 5:18 8:15 51:8  
**situation** 72:14  
**situational** 39:9  
**sixth** 29:21 57:11  
**sizeable** 30:3  
**skewed** 26:17  
**skill** 6:9  
**sleeve** 73:1  
**slide** 26:25 30:18 33:4  
**Sloan** 13:2 18:5,6,10,18 19:2  
**slurs** 57:17,20  
**small** 49:13  
**smart** 57:23

**social** 39:16  
**Society** 59:5  
**solely** 51:2  
**someplace** 49:16  
**sort** 73:17  
**sound** 22:6  
**Southfield** 43:16  
**space** 23:20,22  
**spacing** 50:23  
**speak** 35:14 40:25 41:16  
 59:21 69:5,7,9,12 70:3  
**speaker** 15:11 22:6 27:12 68:6  
**speaker's** 15:7  
**speakers** 68:5  
**speaking** 17:12 73:18  
**specialty** 6:9  
**specific** 22:23 41:16 76:25  
**specifics** 74:24  
**speed** 65:16  
**spending** 32:20  
**spent** 18:24 19:2 29:11 33:5,6  
**spirit** 11:1 17:16  
**spitting** 45:6  
**spoke** 76:20  
**spoken** 39:12  
**spread** 16:2  
**Sr** 11:21 12:19 15:23,24 16:6,  
 18,23 17:15  
**St** 14:20 21:10 67:23  
**stable** 34:8  
**staff** 5:11,21 6:22 7:9,16,18  
 66:24  
**stage** 37:12  
**stand** 5:21 18:6,7 34:17 36:4  
 77:18

**Standard** 59:14  
**standby** 15:15  
**standing** 8:12 27:5 66:9 69:13  
**stands** 27:1 28:4  
**star** 42:22  
**start** 19:20 38:1 46:15  
**started** 13:21 29:21 37:8  
**starting** 3:24  
**state** 14:7 21:10 44:4 51:17  
 54:12,13 72:11,13  
**stated** 55:6  
**station** 74:9  
**stats** 15:3 63:7  
**status** 44:22 58:14,18  
**stay** 59:23  
**stayed** 58:14  
**staying** 58:18  
**Steering** 29:24  
**steps** 61:14  
**Stokes** 7:25 68:7,12 70:4,5,6  
 71:2,5,9,24 72:2,4,7  
**stop** 43:1  
**story** 60:1 73:3  
**strategic** 38:5  
**strategically** 34:4  
**strategies** 38:10  
**strategy** 32:8 38:20 40:11  
**stream** 45:3  
**streams** 45:4  
**street** 25:12 43:5,17,22,23  
 53:11 58:23  
**stress** 44:10  
**strict** 44:14  
**stringent** 39:18  
**structures** 51:6

**student** 6:24  
**Subcommittee** 60:16  
**submitted** 14:9  
**successful** 37:19  
**succinct** 47:25  
**suggestion** 46:14 47:23  
**suggestions** 56:4  
**summarize** 14:25  
**summer** 6:12  
**Sunday** 23:11  
**Supervising** 7:4 60:9,12 62:21  
**supervisory** 9:14 61:21  
**supplies** 28:5  
**support** 4:22 5:6 8:23 17:23  
 18:8,11 19:4 41:5 62:24  
 77:11,13  
**supported** 4:24 5:7 18:13  
 77:12  
**supporting** 9:24 38:25  
**supportive** 19:9  
**suppose** 74:10  
**surprised** 66:3  
**surrendered** 24:19  
**surveillance** 14:8,17,19  
**Survival** 17:6  
**suspect** 22:25 42:1 49:9 52:3  
 53:3 74:14  
**suspected** 45:13  
**suspects** 39:15 52:2  
**suspicion** 42:9,11 44:24,25  
 61:23  
**sustainable** 60:23  
**swastika** 73:6  
**swear** 24:1  
**sworn** 58:14  
**sync** 58:7

**system** 16:24 45:5 51:15,19,  
20 54:2  
**systems** 32:11

---

**T**

---

**table** 15:8  
**tag** 27:24  
**taking** 55:20  
**talk** 26:2 35:22,23 37:6 38:7  
39:20,21 42:17,19 44:1 48:19  
50:22 65:2,21 74:7  
**talked** 37:21 42:18 70:9  
**talking** 11:22,23,24 39:15  
40:13,14 42:17 74:4 76:15  
**talks** 23:18  
**Tambe** 37:1 38:2,3,5  
**taping** 5:15  
**tattoo** 73:2  
**tattoos** 72:25 73:6  
**tax** 26:16 28:13,16,25  
**team** 19:4  
**tech** 25:1  
**technical** 42:10  
**techniques** 61:20  
**technology** 14:5,8,10,18,19  
24:23 29:17,18 32:1,2,4 36:20  
37:4,11 38:11,23,25 40:4,7,  
10,17 41:22 42:8,12,13 43:3  
44:4,20 45:8,22 47:10,15  
50:5,25 56:14 64:6 65:15  
74:24  
**teed** 41:7  
**teenagers** 73:4,7  
**television** 24:23 37:23  
**telling** 44:18  
**Tem** 11:3  
**Ten** 70:14,15

**Tenth** 70:18,23  
**Teresa** 5:22  
**term** 53:12  
**terms** 24:5 25:3 48:4  
**test** 56:8  
**Thanksgiving** 9:7  
**theft** 20:8  
**theme** 62:16  
**therapy** 20:15  
**thing** 28:20 38:20 70:14 73:24  
74:6 75:22  
**things** 34:9 41:18,20 44:11  
50:21,24 52:5,11 54:22 56:3,  
16,20 61:9 63:2 72:15  
**thirty-one** 58:1  
**thirty-seven** 58:5  
**thirty-two** 58:6 70:19,22  
**Thompson** 70:9  
**thought** 18:6 23:23 75:7  
**three-year-old** 51:5  
**threshold** 42:8,11  
**Thursday** 9:9,10 67:20,22  
**Thurston** 20:14  
**ticket** 40:3 46:17 55:2 57:21  
**tickets** 53:18 54:7,8  
**time** 10:14 12:25 25:22 27:22  
33:10 35:22,24 36:7 50:19  
51:9 62:8,11,21 66:17 68:22,  
24 71:7 74:17  
**timely** 31:21 61:13  
**times** 39:12  
**timing** 26:22 28:8  
**today** 3:9,20 5:16 12:21 14:11  
25:22,25 33:17 38:17,22  
53:10 66:15 67:8 73:1 75:16  
76:25 77:4  
**today's** 3:17 7:3

**told** 18:22  
**tool** 38:21 50:14 61:4 63:1  
**topic** 38:22  
**total** 20:8 26:9,24 27:3,4,10  
28:22 30:6 33:6  
**touch** 71:9  
**touched** 17:8  
**tow** 58:22,24  
**towing** 58:21  
**track** 44:19 52:11 75:9,13 76:8  
**tracking** 64:25 65:1 74:17  
75:20  
**trade** 11:7,8  
**traffic** 14:4 36:19 39:23 44:16  
54:9,15,17,20,21,25 75:24  
76:5  
**traffic-mounted** 39:25 40:12  
**tragedy** 48:17  
**Trained** 12:12  
**training** 20:25 21:2 29:14 59:4  
60:11,15 61:19  
**traveling** 74:18  
**treatment** 72:10  
**trends** 58:20  
**trials** 59:10  
**true** 30:21  
**trust** 9:25  
**Tuesday** 13:4  
**Tuesday's** 73:3  
**TULC** 11:8,9  
**tune** 28:12  
**turn** 15:12 25:2 51:13 75:18  
**turned** 23:10  
**turning** 70:18  
**Tuskegee** 12:5,6,10,12,15  
**tutorial** 11:7

**Twelfth** 57:13  
**twenty** 58:15  
**twenty-eight** 19:22 58:13  
**twenty-nine** 58:16  
**twenty-one** 19:3  
**two-day** 59:4  
**two-fold** 37:13  
**type** 22:19 32:3 42:24 43:2 55:4  
**types** 43:6 50:24 56:3  
**Typically** 10:22

---

**U**

---

**U.S.** 12:11,12  
**UAW** 11:15  
**unavailable** 74:5  
**unbelievable** 42:22  
**uncomfortable** 24:18  
**understand** 13:9 45:7 49:20 51:9 52:14 53:22 64:13  
**understands** 45:24  
**Understood** 72:7  
**underway** 10:18  
**unethical** 53:2  
**unfortunate** 42:20 63:8  
**uniforms** 29:14  
**Unintelligible** 12:14 15:19  
**union** 11:7,8  
**unique** 18:21  
**unit** 29:11 54:20  
**united** 11:15 16:14,16  
**units** 20:4 33:21  
**University** 6:7 16:25  
**UNKNOWN** 22:6 27:12  
**unknowns** 57:16

**unlike** 40:5  
**unnecessary** 9:23  
**unpack** 37:10  
**unsafe** 69:4,6  
**Upcoming** 20:24  
**update** 15:2 21:20  
**upgrades** 29:19 30:5 32:3,4,7, 9 34:24,25 65:11  
**upset** 46:19  
**Urban** 17:1  
**usage** 42:7  
**users** 28:16,25  
**UTGO** 29:20 30:2,4  
**utilities** 29:13  
**utility** 26:16 28:16,25  
**utilize** 30:1,3 53:15 54:16,24  
**utilizing** 29:20 39:19 54:2 67:5

---

**V**

---

**vacuum** 41:10  
**valuable** 38:20 39:2  
**variance** 26:3,4,12,21 27:17  
**vehicle** 20:8,19,21 24:12 29:24,25 30:1,2 48:23 75:11, 14  
**vehicles** 31:5 58:22  
**vendors** 67:4  
**venue** 46:23  
**versus** 28:3  
**vests** 30:4  
**veteran** 24:6,10 37:21 42:19 52:9  
**vibrant** 17:15  
**vice** 4:6 11:14 16:13  
**Vicinity** 16:12

**victim** 37:22 42:20 43:6,7,8  
**victimized** 20:2 37:22 43:21 47:19  
**victimizing** 43:14 52:22  
**video** 24:16,17 39:12 44:7 45:3,4 73:23,25 74:2  
**video's** 73:24  
**videos** 58:8 73:20 74:5  
**viewing** 3:11,12  
**violations** 76:24  
**violence** 69:4  
**violent** 38:15 39:3 40:18 43:20 47:15 54:18,24  
**virtual** 52:4,9,14 53:8,9,13 54:2  
**visit** 37:17 69:20  
**visiting** 48:10  
**visitors** 10:2  
**voice** 17:16  
**voluntarism** 11:1  
**Volunteer** 16:15  
**volunteering** 6:4  
**volunteers** 56:7  
**vote** 14:12 77:8

---

**W**

---

**wage** 27:14  
**wages** 27:24,25 30:19  
**waiting** 69:21  
**wake** 48:10  
**Waldis** 20:11  
**walk** 34:17 51:10  
**walkers** 25:12 53:12  
**wanted** 32:23 55:5 69:1  
**War** 12:9,15

**water** 73:5  
**Wayne** 12:6 29:10  
**ways** 38:24  
**wealth** 62:24 63:1  
**weapons** 29:7  
**week** 9:7 15:13  
**weekend** 77:8  
**weekly** 9:1  
**weeks** 9:8 13:22 20:18  
**wheelchair** 34:20,23  
**white** 5:23 7:10,11,13,19 19:8,  
16,18,20 21:15,19 22:2,8,21  
23:13 24:4,9,22 32:5,6,14  
33:14,16 34:21,23 35:4 36:21,  
22 37:1 38:4,8 39:17 40:22,24  
41:2 42:14 44:12,14 46:13,22  
48:3 50:1,2 51:5,18 52:13,19  
54:10,14 64:14,19,20 65:10,  
24 66:1 71:13 72:25 74:21  
75:2,3 76:4,13,18,22  
**William** 4:1  
**Williams** 5:17  
**Willie** 3:8,18  
**Wilson** 8:3  
**wishes** 21:7  
**witnessed** 67:8  
**women** 20:4 43:9  
**wonderful** 68:25  
**Woodward** 24:14  
**word** 16:13 57:20  
**work** 5:16 6:5 9:24 10:4,7,11,  
24,25 11:2 12:20 20:3 21:2,3  
22:22 31:22 33:18,24 34:2,7  
37:17 39:13 43:9 51:8 55:9  
68:22 69:17,20,24 71:8  
**worked** 15:20 21:23 22:20  
**Workers** 11:15  
**working** 6:12 20:3 24:19 29:17  
30:3 33:22 36:16 38:10 41:6

**works** 14:10  
**World** 12:9,14  
**worn** 58:9  
**wound** 20:18  
**wow** 25:1  
**written** 61:20  
**wrong** 46:19  
**Wyoming** 25:10,11  
**Wyrick** 5:22  

---

**X**

---

**Xavier** 6:7  
**Xaviers** 6:16

---

**Y**

---

**ya'll** 69:15,24,25  
**ya'll's** 70:20  
**yard** 30:5,6  
**year** 6:7 10:15 29:8,25 31:3,  
12,14 43:15  
**year-to-date** 19:21 38:17  
**years** 16:2,19 18:24 19:1,2  
58:16 65:14 70:18,19,20,22  
72:23  
**yellow** 43:1  
**yesterday** 40:24  
**young** 6:23 8:15 12:18,19 24:5  
52:22 69:8  
**youth** 11:6 16:15  
**Yvette** 3:15 16:5